
 
 

 

 
 
 
DYDD IAU, 15 MEHEFIN 2023 
 
 
AT: HOLL AELODAU Y PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO 
 
 
 
YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU CYFARFOD O’R 
PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO A GYNHELIR YN Y SIAMBR,  NEUADD Y 
SIR, CAERFYRDDIN AC O BELL AM 10.00 YB  DYDD IAU, 22AIN 
MEHEFIN, 2023 ER MWYN CYFLAWNI'R MATERION A AMLINELLIR 
AR YR AGENDA SYDD YNGHLWM 
 
 

Wendy Walters 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 
 
 
 
Swyddog Democrataidd: Martin S. Davies 
Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224059 
E-Bost: MSDavies@sirgar.gov.uk  

Gellir gwylio’r cyfarfod ar wefan y cyngor drwy'r ddolen canlynol:- 
https://carmarthenshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

 
Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 

Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 
 
 

Pecyn Dogfennau

https://carmarthenshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 
 

PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO 
21 AELOD 

 
 

GRŴP PLAID CYMRU-  11 Aelod 
1.  Cyng. Tyssul Evans (Cadeirydd) 
2.  Cyng. Mansel Charles  
3.  Cyng.  Terry Davies  
4.  Cyng. Ken Howell  
5.  Cyng. Carys Jones (Is-Gadeirydd) 
6.  Cyng. Jean Lewis  
7.  Cyng. Denise Owen  
8.  Cyng.  Dorian Phillips  
9.  Cyng. Russell Sparks  
10.  Cyng. Gareth Thomas  
11.  Cyng. Elwyn Williams  

 
GRŴP LLAFUR -  6 Aelod 
1.  Cyng. Peter Cooper  
2.  Cyng. Michelle Donoghue  
3.  Cyng. Nysia Evans  
4.  Cyng. Anthony Leyshon  
5.  Cyng. Edward Skinner  
6.  Cyng. Michael Thomas  

 
GRŴP ANNIBYNNOL - 3 Aelod 
1.  Cyng. Sue Allen (Aelod y Pwyllgor) 

 Lle Gwag 
 Lle Gwag 

 
HEB GYSYLLTIAD  1 Aelod 
1.  Cyng. John Jenkins (Aelod y Pwyllgor) 
2.  

 

 
 
 



 

 
 

A G E N D A   
  

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB   
 
2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONOL   
 
3. PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO  5 - 60 
 
4. APELIADAU.  61 - 68 
 
5. LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR GOFNODION Y CYFARFOD A 

GYNHALIWYD AR 25AIN MAI 2023.  
69 - 72 

 



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin
Carmarthenshire County Council

PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO
PLANNING COMMITTEE

Adroddiad Pennaeth Lle a 
Chynaliadwyedd
Lle a Seilwaith

Report of the Head of Place 
and Sustainability 

Place and Infrastructure

22/06/2023

I’W BENDERFYNU
FOR DECISION

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  3



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In relation to those applications which are identified as one in which the Council has an 
interest either as applicant/agent or in terms of land or property ownership, Members 
are reminded that they must set aside this aspect, and confine their consideration and 
determination of such applications exclusively to the merits of the planning issues 
arising.  The Council’s land owning function, or other interests in the matter, must not 
be taken into account when determining such planning applications. 
 

 

 

  

 

Mewn perthynas â cheisiadau y mae gan y Cyngor ddiddordeb ynddynt un ai fel 
ymgeisydd/asiant neu fel perchennog tir neu eiddo, atgoffir yr Aelodau fod yna rhaid 
iddynt anwybyddu’r agwedd hon, gan ystyried ceisiadau o’r fath a phenderfynu yn eu 
cylch ar sail rhinweddau’r ceisiadau cynllunio yn unig. Ni ddylid ystyried swyddogaeth 
y Cyngor fel perchennog tir, na materion cysylltiedig, wrth benderfynu ynghylch 
ceisiadau cynllunio o’r fath. 
 

Tudalen 6



 

 

 
COMMITTEE: 
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: 
 

 
22.06.2023 

 
REPORT OF: 
 

 
HEAD OF PLACE AND SUSTAINABILITY 

 
 

 
REF. 

 
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL 

 
 

PL/05042 
 

 
Proposed are a total of 4no Glamping pods with private seating areas 
to the front of the units, along with a services hut, a parking and turning 
area and recycling/waste amenities and a secure bike store. The pods 
are well-spaced throughout the site. Also intended are associated 
footpaths and landscaping of the site, please refer to the proposed site 
plan for further details. The glamping pods will be the Glasgwym pod 
provided by Quality Pods Wales. The plot is situated near the A483, 
within close proximity to Cilycwm and Llandovery. The proposed 
glamping site will provide subtle and discreet countryside 
accommodation for tourists visiting these areas attractions on short 
breaks and weekend stays and is proposed to be all year-round at 
Brynllan, Cilycwm, Llandovery, SA20 0SY 
 

 
PL/05353 

 

 
Formation of a new combined Pedestrian and Cycle Path between 
Ysgol Bro Dinefwr, Ffairfach and Nantgaredig, plus associated 
engineering and landscaping works (Tywi Valley Path - Eastern Phase) 
at Land along route of former railway line with minor deviations 
between Nantgaredig and Ffairfach, Llandeilo, Carmarthenshire 
 

 
 
 

 
REF. 

 
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL 

 
 

PL/05354 
 

 
Retention of detached dwelling at Pantbach, Heol Treventy, Cross 
Hands, Llanelli, SA14 6TE 
 

 
PL/05786 

 

 
Construction of dwelling for local needs eligibility – policy at Plas 
Newydd, Llangain, Carmarthen, SA33 5AY 
 

 
 
 

Tudalen 7



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 8



 

 

 
 
Application No 
 

 
PL/05042 

 

Application Type Full planning permission 

Proposal 

Proposed are a total of 4no Glamping pods with private seating 
areas to the front of the units, along with a services hut, a parking 
and turning area and recycling/waste amenities and a secure bike 
store. The pods are well-spaced throughout the site. Also intended 
are associated footpaths and landscaping of the site, please refer 
to the proposed site plan for further details. The glamping pods will 
be the Glasgwym pod provided by Quality Pods Wales. The plot is 
situated near the A483, within close proximity to Cilycwm and 
Llandovery. The proposed glamping site will provide subtle and 
discreet countryside accommodation for tourists visiting these 
areas attractions on short breaks and weekend stays and is 
proposed to be all year-round 

 
Location 
 

Brynllan, Cilycwm, Llandovery, SA20 0SY 

 

Applicant(s) Daniel Compton 

Agent Glampitect Ltd 

Officer Kevin Phillips 

Ward Cilycwm 

 
Date of validation 
 

14/11/2022 

 
Reason for Committee 
 
This application is being reported to the Planning Committee following the receipt of more 
than two objection from third parties. 
 
Site 
 
The application site is agricultural land to the south of Brynllan, Cilycwm, approximately 190 
metres west of the C2157 road through the village of Cilycwm, Llandovery. The nearest 
residential property to the application site is Tal-Ebolion which is approximately 65 metres 
from the nearest proposed holiday unit. The 4 separate holiday units will be located to the 
Northern section of the fields, near to Brynllan and the car parking area is proposed at the 
southern section of the site with 6 parking spaces. The application site has semi-mature 

Tudalen 9



 

 

trees along each boundary and the access track to the applicant’s dwelling at Brynllan. 
There are footways from the car parking area to each of the 4 holiday units therein. The 
application site is entered through an existing rough track leading to Brynllan with the 
Unclassified 2270 road to the South, that links with the C2157 road into the village of 
Cilycwm. 
 
Proposal  
 
The proposed development is for a total of 4 number Glamping pods with private seating 
areas to the front of the units, along with a services hut, a parking and turning area and 
recycling/waste amenities and a secure bike store. The pods are well-spaced throughout 
the site with associated footpaths to the car parking area and landscaping of the site with 
existing landscaping provided by semi-mature trees along the boundaries of the site. In 
addition to the above there will be a small service hut and an area for bike storage and 
refuse collection.  
 
Planning Site History 
 
E/29305 - Overhead Line - Electricity Approval - 28/1/2014 
 
Planning Policy 
 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (Adopted December 2014) (‘the LDP’)  
  
SP15 – Tourism and the Visitor Economy  
TSM1 – Static Caravan and Chalet Sites  
TSM2 – Touring Caravan and Tent Sites  
TSM3 – Small Scale Tourism Development in the Open Countryside  
GP1 – Sustainability and High Quality Design  
EP1 – Water Quality and Resources  
EQ4 – Biodiversity  
EQ6 – Special Landscape Areas  
  
National Planning Policy and Guidance is provided in Future Wales: The National Plan 2040, 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 11, February 2021 and associated Technical Advice 
Notes (TANs) published by Welsh Government. 
 
Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
Head of Transportation & Highways - The application is supported subject to the 
application of conditions. 
  
Head of Public Protection - Guidance has been provided on noise assessment and the 
importation of permeable materials. 
  
Cilycwm Community Council - Object to the proposed development for the following 
reasons; 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 10

http://www.cartogold.co.uk/CarmarthenshireLDP/english/text/00_Contents.htm
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes


 

 

Location 
  
The road leading to the Glamping Pods, at Brynllan, Cilycwm is very narrow from the village, 
there are no street lights and no pavements to assist with the safety of people cycling and 
walking in the area after dark, especially in the winter months. There would be 4 Glamping 
pods with 1/2 cars per Pod, which would increase traffic to and from the village leading to 
the Glamping site. The roads around the village are narrow and speeding has already been 
highlighted as an issue, extra visitors may well/would increase street parking in the village, 
which is another concern to residents. The Pods are near residential properties which could 
well be an issue, with all year round activity being proposed in this application. 
 
Sewerage 
 
With extra dwellings having been built in the area, the sewerage is overflowing into the River 
Towy and it's tributaries at present, it has already been reported that it has killed off the fish 
by our local fishermen. Therefore, there is no room for extra toilet facilities in the village, and 
with 4 Glamping Pods, and 2/3 people per pod staying in this area this would certainly 
increase the pressure on the Sewerage System, even though this project appears to be 
using an alternative system, “a package treatment plant”. 
 
Phosphate 
 
Whilst farmland is naturally able to absorb phosphorus, some of the land in Wales has now 
reached a saturation point and is unable to absorb the excessive quantities. Growing 
populations and increased accommodation and economic development in this community, 
has resulted in rising levels of phosphorous in our foul waste water, which has created an 
issue for consideration on any future development in the community. This is causing damage 
to the rivers and the ecosystems it supports. 
 
Employment 
 
Four Glamping Pods would definitely not increase employment in the village, maybe an odd 
job now and again but not what you would call a life changing job. The only amenity in the 
village is our local public house. There is no village store and therefore any monies spent 
would have a minimal economic benefit to this community and could well be spent outside 
this village. 
 
Future Developments 
 
The concentration of the development in a small area was a concern, and suggests that this 
might turn out to be a first phase of a larger development. 
  
Local Member(s) - Councillor Arwel Davies objects to the application for the following 
reasons; 
  
1. The size and scale of the proposed development is too large for a small village the size 

of Cilycwm. 
 
2. There are no local amenities as the village pub is closed at present so no financial 

gain/support to any business nearby. 
 

Tudalen 11



 

 

3. There are no pavements or streetlights from the village to the proposed development 
site which would put visitors in danger on a narrow and steep section of highway. 

 
4. There are no bus services at Cilycwm Village and the nearest town being 5 to 6 miles 

away would be too far to walk. Completely car reliant to access the site. 
 
5. Similar businesses are already struggling to fill in vacancies in the area. 
 
6. There is a high volume of similar business for tourism in and around the village that rely 

on the income. 
 
7. The proposed development is totally out of character with the historic village which has 

many listed buildings etc. 
 
8. There are major issues regarding phosphates into the river at this location at present, 

another development of this size/scale would only increase this issue. 
 
9. The light pollution would impact on the village due to the development site towering 

above the village on a prominent peak that can be seen for miles. 
  
As stated above I object to this planning application and would like to call this in for 
determination by the planning committee if the planning officer not of the same opinion. 
  
Natural Resources Wales – Following consultation under the Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) in relation to the phosphate impacts of the proposed 
development it is for your Authority, as the Competent Authority, to carry out the Test of 
Likely Significant Effects and therefore NRW will not be providing any formal comments at 
this stage. 
  
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 
Summary of Public Representations 
 
The application was the subject of notification by way of site notice and 4 representations 
were received objecting, and the matters raised are summarised as follows: 
 
• The access to the site is unacceptable 
• Pedestrians walk the highway daily 
• There is no lighting proposed at the site 
• The highway fronting the site is hazardous in winter months because of ice 
• There is no public bus service from Llandovery to Cilycwm 
• The Public House at the village is closed 
• The site will be harmful to the attractiveness of the local landscape 
• Visitors with dogs will harm the local livestock 
• Concern regarding light pollution 
• The proposal does not respect the character of the locality 
• Planning application PL/05695 at Garreg Fechan, Llanwrda for 2 holiday pods was 

refused, is raised as a similar proposal 
• Concerns are raised in terms of increased noise in the village from the partying and 

shouting from the development 
 

Tudalen 12

http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 

 

All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 
Appraisal 
 
Principle of development 
  
The proposed development is for 4 holiday pods at a location in close proximity to the village 
of Cilycwm, which is approximately 5.4 kilometres North of the town of Llandovery, and 400 
metres from the village centre with the grade 1 listed church , a Chapel, public house, a 
significant number of Listed buildings and a large recreation area opposite the former 
primary school which is also listed and is now a dwelling. The site is well screened by trees 
and hedgerows and blends well into the landscape of the Tywi Valley. The proposal is to 
add to the tourism offer within the Tywi Valley, which draws much attraction in terms of its 
scenic and natural beauty. The village is identified as a settlement within the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development plan with development limits and the application site 
is well related to the village. 
 
The proposed tourism development falls to be considered against the Carmarthenshire 
Local Development Plan policy and National Planning policy and it is considered that Policy 
TSM2 is the most relevant policy, which requires that proposals should be directly related to 
a recognised settlement in the LDP and it is highlighted that the site lies only a short distance 
from the settlement of Cilycwm, and therefore it is contended that the proposal satisfies the 
locational criteria of this policy. In addition, the site will not likely cause amenity issues for 
third parties and would not cause significant landscape and visual amenity issues locally or 
in the context of the wider countryside. From the drawings, reports and documents 
submitted, the structures would be sited in an enclosed, secluded location which benefits 
from appropriate landscaping that softens the proposal from the wider countryside beyond. 
In addition, the pod designs appear to be generally low impact, timber construction, so they 
are unlikely to have a detrimental impact on the wider countryside surrounding this location. 
On balance, weighed up against national and local planning policies for tourism 
development, sustainability and nature conservation, the proposal does not raise an 
objection. Furthermore, taking into account reference to Planning Policy Wales, edition 11 
above, it is considered that weighed up against national and local planning policies for 
tourism development and the benefits to the rural economy, the scheme is looked at 
favourably. 
 
Impact upon character and appearance of the area/ Landscape and Visual Impact 
  
The site is a field surrounded by semi-mature trees to the north, East and South and there 
will be tree planting along the West border to the site. The closest public vantage point is 
the unclassified road approximately 60 metres to the south with the boundary to the site tree 
lined along the highway and to the east along the track leading to the applicant’s dwelling at 
Brynllan. The site is considered to be very well screened, and the setting of the pods and 
the parking area is such that there is not considered to be any significant harm to the 
landscape quality of the area, as confirmed by the Authority’s Landscape Officer. 
  
Privacy Impacts 
  
The nearest dwelling to the site is Tal-Ebolion which is approximately 65 metres to the East 
from the nearest holiday pod. As relayed above the site has trees lined along the track 
leading to the applicant’s dwelling and this in conjunction with the distance and topographical 
drop to the above-mentioned dwelling will not be considered to result in any significant loss 

Tudalen 13

http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 

 

in privacy to the residents at this dwelling. No objection has been received from the residents 
at this dwelling.  
  
Biodiversity Impacts 
  
The proposed development removes a small section of trees to allow for access from the 
southern section of the application site to the Northern section, however the existing 
boundary trees are proposed to be retained and the western boundary is to be landscaped 
to enhance the biodiversity of the site. 
  
The Authority’s Tree Officer conveys that all the tree reports are satisfactory and if the 
development goes ahead, the trees should be fenced off, as stated in the tree protection 
plan. 
  
The Authority’s Landscape Officer does not have any adverse observations in relation to the 
landscape consultation policy remit. 
  
Following detailed consideration of the waste treatment proposal at the site in terms of a 
replacement treatment plant for the proposed development and replacement of the existing 
waste treatment plant for the existing residential dwelling at Brynllan, it is considered that 
the proposal can be screened out under the Habitats Regulations as the proposal is unlikely 
to have a significant effect on the Tywi SAC condition. The Authority’s Planning Ecology 
section undertook a Test of Likely Significant Effect under the Habitat Regulations, which 
was forwarded to Natural Resources Wales who do not object to the Competent Authority 
(Carmarthenshire County Council-Planning Ecology) determining to screen the proposal 
out. The final response from Planning Ecology is awaited and this will be report to the 
Planning Committee. 
  
Highway Impacts 
  
The Head of Transport does not object to the proposal and any recommendation to support 
the proposal is required to be subject to highway related conditions as proposed below. The 
proposed development is therefore considered to accord with Policy GP 1 and TR 3 of the 
adopted Carmarthenshire LDP having regard to highway safety. 
  
Other Matters  
  
Civil matters are not a material planning consideration and therefore have not been 
addressed within the report. 
  
In terms of the public representations received the following comments are provided; 
 
The Head of Transport supports the access and parking provision for the proposed 
development subject to conditions and therefore there is considered to be no concern with 
the access, pedestrians walking on the highway which has low traffic levels, and it’s use in 
winter months. There is an objection for the use of lighting and it is considered the lighting 
proposed as shown on the plans are very low impact and will aid in the evening times when 
moving around at the site and the number and luminescence of the low level path lighting 
proposed will not have any external light pollution issues. It is conveyed that the Public 
House in the village is closed, I do not have any details as to the nature of this closure and 
the Local Planning Authority has not received any planning application to change this 
property to any other alternative use and will consider that it remains to be a facility that 

Tudalen 14



 

 

serves the community. It has been conveyed in the report that it is considered that the tree 
and hedgerow screening aids significantly in screening the siting of the holiday pods and 
car parking area and there is not considered to be any significant harm to the landscape 
quality and character of the area, as confirmed by the Authority’s Landscape Officer 
response to consultation. Whilst there is no bus service through the village, it is considered 
that the village is a sustainable service centre with a public house, places of worship and 
village play area and the site is directly related to this recognised settlement in the LDP. The 
application raised in relation to Garreg Fechan was refused on the failure to adhere to the 
farm diversification policy EMP4 of the Carmarthenshire LDP and a previous application was 
refused and dismissed at Appeal because the site is not directly related to any settlement 
and is located in a remote rural location. The Authority's Public Protection have been 
consulted and not objections have been raised and it is considered that the nature of the 
development, being a small scale site set away from the village and screened by trees, there 
is not considered to be any concern from unsociable behaviour at the site, and the 
appropriate management of the site should result in insignificant impact upon local residents. 
Any issue that arises can be dealt with by Public Protection under their statutory legislation.  
  
In regard to the Local member and Community Council comments raised against the 
proposal, the following response is provided; 
 
The proposed development is for 4 holiday pods in close proximity to the village of Cilycwm 
which is very well screen by the existing and proposed trees and hedgerows. It is not 
considered large and will blend in very well into the landscape. Comments on the public 
house are provided above as well as the highway safety issues raised and there being no 
bus service directly through the village. No details are provided in terms of any other similar 
businesses struggling in the locality and therefore I can only relay that this matter is for the 
applicant to determine in terms of the business plan and marketing exercise. The site is well 
set away from any listed buildings and the historic aspects of the village and these historic 
aspects are considered to be an appeal to the tourism trade. The application has received 
detailed consideration in terms of the of the waste treatment proposal at the site. There is to 
be a replacement treatment plant for the proposed development and replacement of the 
existing waste treatment plant for the existing residential dwelling at Brynllan. It is considered 
that the proposal can be screened out under the Habitats Regulations as the proposal is 
unlikely to have a significant effect on the Tywi SAC condition. The Authority’s Planning 
Ecology section undertook an Appropriate Assessment under the Habitat Regulations which 
is supported by Natural Resources Wales and the final response from Planning Ecology is 
awaited and this will be report to the Planning Committee. The lighting concerns have also 
been addressed above.  
The above response also comments on the issues raised by the Community Council and 
further in terms of the sewerage and phosphate concerns the further Planning Ecology 
response will be reported to the Planning Committee. The issue raised in terms of 
employment is not considered to be a material planning consideration and it is contested 
that there will not the generation of economic benefits to the locality. It is considered that 
this proposal is required to be considered on its merits and not as a perceived launching 
pad for any further developments at the site/locality.    
 
Planning Obligations 
 
Not Applicable.  
 
 
 

Tudalen 15



 

 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The decision considers the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under 
section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). The 
decision takes into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and it 
is considered that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle 
through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives 
set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The Local Member, Community Council and three residents have raised objections to the 
proposed development, and it is considered that the issues raised to the proposal do not 
outweigh the policy support for the proposed development. After careful consideration of the 
scheme as submitted, it is concluded that the proposal is in accordance with the policies of 
the adopted Local Development Plan and on balance is therefore put forward with a 
recommendation for approval subject to the following conditions.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATION - Approval 
 
 
Conditions & Reasons 
 
Condition 1 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission. 
  
Reason:  
Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
  
Condition 2 
  
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 
documents: 
  
• Location Plan (211213-01-01), received 10 January 2022 
• Proposed Site Plan (211213-01-02), received 10 January 2022 
• Road and Access Plan (211213-01-06), received 10 January 2022 
• Lighting Plan (211213-01-08), received 10 January 2022 
• Pod Elevation and Floor Plan (211213-01-05), received 10 January 2022 
• Arboricultural Report- ACS Consulting -March 2023, received 9 March 2023 
• Arboricultural Layout Plan (ARB/4827/Y/100), received 9 March 2023 
• Proposed Revised Drainage Plan (211213-01-04), received 15 March 2023 
• Ecoflo Sewage Treatment Plant, received 15 March 2023 
• Millenium 6000litre septic tank drawing, received 15 March 2023 
• Biodiversity enhancement Proposals, dated February 2023, received 16 February 2023 
 

Tudalen 16



 

 

 
Reason:  
For the avoidance of doubt as to the extent of the permission hereby granted and to secure 
an acceptable development in accordance with Policy GP1 of the Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan 2014.  
  
Condition 3 
  
No trees with trunk/stem diameter exceeding 100 mm, measured at a height of 1.5 metres 
above ground level; or hedges, which are located within or on the site boundary shall be cut 
down, uprooted, destroyed, topped, lopped or pruned without prior approval of a Landscape 
Design Scheme (LDS), or specific written approval for the works by the local planning 
authority. Following such approval all works are to be carried out in accordance with 
BS3998. 
  
Reason:  
To ensure that the development retains, incorporates and does not adversely affect existing 
landscape or other features which contribute to local qualities and distinctiveness: thus, 
delivering the objectives of CLDP policies: - SP1 d) and i); SP14 e); GP1 b) and f); and EQ5; 
and pursuant to section 197 (a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
  
Condition 4 
  
The development hereby approved shall be used for holiday accommodation only and for 
no other purpose (including any other purpose in Class C3 of the Schedule to the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in 
any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification). 
  
Reason:  
For the avoidance of doubt or confusion as to the extent of the permission hereby granted 
and to clarify the nature of the development and avoid the creation of dwellings in the open 
countryside. Also in the interests of tourism, sustainable development, residential amenities 
and highway safety. 
  
Condition 5 
  
The holiday accommodation hereby approved shall not be occupied as a person’s sole or 
main place of residence or by any persons exceeding a period of 28 days in any calendar 
year. An up to date register shall be kept at the holiday accommodation hereby approved 
and be made available for inspection by the local planning authority upon request. The 
register shall contain details of the names of all of the occupiers of the accommodation, their 
main home addresses and their date of arrival and departure from the accommodation. 
  
Reason:  
For the avoidance of doubt or confusion as to the extent of the permission hereby granted 
and to clarify the nature of the development and avoid the creation of dwellings in the open 
countryside. Also in the interests of tourism, sustainable development, residential amenities 
and highway safety. 
  
 
 
 

Tudalen 17



 

 

 
Condition 6 
  
Prior to any use of the access, a visibility splay of 2.4 metres x 54 metres to the north-east 
and 104 metres to the south-west shall be formed and thereafter retained in perpetuity, 
either side of the centre line of the access in relation to the nearer edge of carriageway. In 
particular there shall at no time be any obstruction above 0.9 metres within this splay area.  
  
Reason:  
In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Policies GP1 and TR3 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2014. 
  
Condition 7 
  
The access, visibility splays and turning area required, shall be wholly provided prior to any 
part of the development being brought into use, and thereafter shall be retained 
unobstructed in perpetuity. In particular, no part of the access, visibility splays, or turning 
area, is to be obstructed by non-motorised vehicles.  
  
Reason:  
In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Policies GP1 and TR3 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2014. 
  
Condition 8  
  
The parking spaces and layout shown on the plans herewith approved shall be provided 
prior to any use of the development herewith approved. Thereafter, they shall be retained, 
unobstructed, for the purpose of parking only. In particular, no part of the parking and turning 
facilities is to be obstructed by non-motorised vehicles.  
  
Reason:  
In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Policies GP1 and TR3 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2014. 
  
Condition 9 
  
The access shall be hard-surfaced in a bonded material for a minimum distance of 5.0 
metres behind the near edge of highway, prior to any part of the development approved 
herewith being brought into use and thereafter maintained in perpetuity.  
  
Reason:  
In the interests of highway safety and to accord with Policies GP1 and TR3 of the 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2014. 
  
Notes / Informatives 
 
Note 1  
  
Please note that this permission is specific to the plans and particulars approved as part of 
the application. Any departure from the approved plans will constitute unauthorised 
development and may be liable to enforcement action. You (or any subsequent developer) 

Tudalen 18



 

 

should advise the Council of any actual or proposed variations from the approved plans 
immediately so that you can be advised how to best resolve the matter. 
  
In addition, any conditions which the Council has imposed on this permission will be listed 
above and should be read carefully. It is your (or any subsequent developers’) responsibility 
to ensure that the terms of all conditions are met in full at the appropriate time (as outlined 
in the specific condition). 
  
The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
conditions which require the submission of details prior to commencement of development 
will constitute unauthorised development. This will necessitate the submission of a further 
application to retain the unauthorised development and may render you liable to formal 
enforcement action. 
  
Failure on the part of the developer to observe the requirements of any conditions could 
result in the Council pursuing formal enforcement action in the form of a Breach of Condition 
Notice. 
  
Note 2 
  
Comments and guidance received from consultees relating to this application, including any 
other permissions or consents required, is available on the Authority’s website 
(www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk).   
 
 
 
  

Tudalen 19

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/


 

 

 
 
Application No 
 

 
PL/05353 

 

Application Type Full planning permission 

Proposal 
Formation of a new combined Pedestrian and Cycle Path between 
Ysgol Bro Dinefwr, Ffairfach and Nantgaredig, plus associated 
engineering and landscaping works (Tywi Valley Path - Eastern 
Phase) 

 
Location 
 

Land along route of former railway line with minor deviations 
between Nantgaredig and Ffairfach, Llandeilo, Carmarthenshire 

 

Applicant(s) Carmarthenshire County Council 

Agent Russell Borthwick 

Officer Paul Roberts 

Ward Llanddarog;Llandeilo;Llanegwad;Llanfihangel Aberbythych 

 
Date of validation 
 

02/02/2023 

 
Reason for Committee 
 
This application is being reported to the Planning Committee on the basis that it has been 
submitted by Carmarthenshire County Council. 
 
Site 
 
The application seeks full planning permission for a shared use path along a defined route 
between Nantgaredig and Ffairfach, along the Tywi Valley. The path will be unsegregated 
and provide a shared use for pedestrians and cyclists.  
  
It will primarily follow the route of the former Carmarthen-Llandeilo railway line that follows 
the flood plain of the River Tywi and was closed in 1963. Sections of the path deviate from 
route of the line to avoid constraints such as those areas that have been scoured by the 
River Tywi. The route generally follows a low embankment along the lower Tywi Valley while 
also utilising a length of existing public right of way and extends to 14.64 km. It forms the 
eastern phase of the overall route of the path to be constructed which, once completed, will 
extend from Bishop’s Palace Museum in Abergwili to Ffairfach, Llandeilo. The shorter 
western phase will extend between Abergwili and Nantgaredig and already has the benefit 
of planning permission. Elements of this approved route between Abergwili and Whitemill 

Tudalen 20



 

 

have already been constructed. In its entirety, when all phases of the path have been 
completed, the Tywi Path will total 18.8km in length. 
  
The eastern phase currently proposed is located in the lower Tywi Valley that consists of a 
rural river valley landscape with the land being predominantly pastureland within the flood 
plain of the River Tywi. The lower valley has a wide expanse that is flanked by the A40 and 
B4300 to the north and south respectively, with the river flowing in an east west direction 
from Ffairfach. The main land uses along the route consist of agricultural pastureland, 
woodlands and watercourses that are traversed by various roads and tracks. The path will 
start at Station Road in Nantgaredig at is westernmost point where it will connect with the 
western phase that already has permission. Its route will pass the settlements of Llanarthne 
and Dryslwyn as well as small clusters of residential properties and farmsteads on its 
easterly route towards Ffairfach where it will terminate immediately to the east of new Bro 
Dinefwr School off the A476.  
  
The land along the route supports several farm holdings that are mainly dairy and beef cattle 
and sheep, as well as a small number of equine units. The majority of the route is set a 
minimum distance of 8 metres from the River Tywi while also crossing over the river as well 
as the River Cothi and a number of small watercourses. The surrounding topography is 
relatively flat forming the bottom of the river valley with the meandering River Towy and, 
beyond this, the levels of the valley raise gradually to the north and south forming the valley 
sides and hills either side. The flood plain consists primarily of agricultural land which is 
mostly improved pasture, while also having extensive areas of mature hedgerows and trees 
with the valley slopes either side being partly wooded. 
  
The site itself includes a mix of poor semi improved and improved grassland as well as areas 
of semi-natural woodland and marshy grassland. The disused railway corridor generally 
consists of bare ground, scattered trees, wooded areas and dense scrub.  
  
The site is located within the Tywi Valley Special Landscape Area while also lying within the 
Tywi Valley Landscape of Outstanding Historic Interest with the wider surrounding area 
including historic parklands and gardens such as Dinefwr Park, as well as Dinefwr and 
Dryslwyn Castle. It is also located adjacent to the River Tywi Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) and Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSSI) and crosses the SAC. 
  
The site extends to approximately 40 hectares in area incorporating the route itself as well 
as those areas required to construct the path including numerous compound areas and 
accesses. 
 
Proposal  
 
As indicated above, the application seeks full planning permission for the construction of a 
new cycle and pedestrian path that will predominantly be 3 metres wide and follow the route 
of the former Carmarthen to Llandeilo railway line. The path will be unsegregated comprising 
a 3 metre wide hard surfaced path with 1 metre verges either side and will be adapted locally 
where required to suit constraints along the route. It will include a mix of tarmacadam and 
concrete surfacing with those sections of the route that will also be used by neighbouring 
farms for access purposes having been designed for use by agricultural machinery. 
Excavation depths will not exceed 300mm along the embankment of the railway line and 
those areas where it deviates from its route. 
 
 

Tudalen 21



 

 

Route 
 
The proposed path will link with the western phase of the path at the B4310 (Station Road) 
in the village of Nantgaredig. It will follow the former railway line eastwards before crossing 
the river Cothi after approximately 1 km via a new clear span bridge. After 750 metres, the 
path will diverge from the former railway line onto an existing track and public right of way 
to the north of the route before taking a 90 degree turn to the south crossing the former 
railway line and the River Tywi over a new clear span bridge. Having crossed the river, the 
path will follow the route of the river for approximately 750 metres, another 250 metres 
through a meadow area before re-joining the railway line north of two farmsteads known as 
Bemenda Ucahf and Ganol which flank the northern side of the B4300. At this point the path 
will diverge from the railway line to follow existing field boundaries before re-joining the line 
midway between the farmsteads of Barley Mount and Glantowy which are located between 
the railway line and the River Tywi. 
 
The path then follows the route of the railway line for approximately 7.5 kms crossing over 
the River Gwynon tributary some 250 metres to the north of the village of Llanarthne, the 
B4297 at Dryslwyn Fawr, and C2145 between Golden Grove and Llangathen. Approximately 
1km to the east, the path diverges from a section of the railway line that has been badly 
eroded by the river to follow a field boundary for 400 metres before re-joining the route at 
Pentrecwn. Similarly, a further 300 metres to the east the path again diverges from the 
railway line that has been eroded by the river from which point it follows the northern flank 
of the B4300 for approximately 1.2 km where it will terminate to the south-east corner of 
Ysgol Bro Dinefwr on the outskirts of Ffairfach. 
 
Structures  
 
The scheme will include 13 structures along its route to cross rivers and steams which range 
from small field crossings over minor watercourses to a small replacement bridge of the 
River Gwynon, and two new clear span bridges over the River Cothi and Tywi. The latter 
will not be located within the boundary of the River Tywi SAC and SSSI. The majority of the 
structures will have earthwork access ramps at either end to cater for disabled access along 
the route. The structures will include two boardwalks along two low lying areas along the 
route that are affected by flooding with the first located at Allt Pantglas between Dryswlyn 
and Golden Grove, while the second will be located further to the east to the north-west of 
Llettyglyd Farm on the easterly approach to Ffairfach. The elevated boardwalk structures 
have been designed to avoid the loss of floodplain storage which would result from the 
construction of a new embankment in the flood plain. The structures will consist of a 4 metre 
wide elevated concrete slab set on concrete posts and having 1.4 metre high parapet railings 
either side. Typically, the path level will be set at a height of 1.2 metres above the existing 
ground level of these areas of the site. 
 
Existing culverts along the route will be retained and existing bridge decks that provide 
access over these will be replaced by new structures. There will be no lighting along the 
path upon completion in the interests of reducing its ecological impacts such as potential 
disturbance to bats. 
 
Drainage and fencing  
 
The surface water drainage strategy for the scheme will include the construction of infiltration 
trenches along the verges of the path and the detailed design will be the subject of a 
separate application to the Council’s Sustainable Drainage Approval Body. 

Tudalen 22



 

 

 
Boundary Treatments will consist of a mix of timber post and four-rail fences, timber post 
with wire mesh fences, and timber post with wire strands fences for the majority of the route, 
while barriers and gates will be incorporated at key locations to manage access to and from 
the path and neighbouring farmland. 
 
Public Rights of Way  
 
The scheme will directly impact upon 4 public rights of way along the route of the path by 
crossing their routes, while also utilising a 250 metre length of one existing public right of 
way as part of the path. Temporary diversions will be required for those public rights of way 
directly affected by the development. 
 
Construction and Access 
 
The construction of the path will take place in stages with the overall programme being 
aligned with the ecological calendar to minimise the impact to the surrounding environment. 
The application has been accompanied by an outline Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) that details the environmental controls and protection measures 
that will be adopted during the construction phase to ensure the successful management of 
the construction activities and their environmental impact. 
 
The scheme includes the provision of 8 construction compounds along the route of the path 
to facilitate its phased construction. It will also include the implementation of a Construction 
Traffic Management Plan that will implement a scheme of traffic management measures 
during the construction phase of the development to ensure the safety of road users. 
 
The application has been accompanied by an Environmental Statement and accompanying 
suite of supporting documents which include the following: 
 
• Planning, Design and Access Statement 
• Pre-application Consultation Report 
• Flood Consequence Assessment 
• Water Framework Directive Assessment 
• Habitat Regulation Assessment 
• Transport Statement. 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
The proposed development falls under Schedule 2, Part 10(f) (infrastructure project, 
construction of roads) of the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Regulations 2017. 
Officers provided the applicant with a screening opinion in November 2017 confirming the 
proposal to be EIA development due to its nature, scale, and location in an environmentally 
sensitive area, being adjacent to the River Tywi Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and 
Site of Special Scientific Interest, and the likely significant effect on the environment.  
 
Officers subsequently issued a scoping opinion in November 2018 with regard to the precise 
scope of the EIA and the environmental topics and likely significant environmental effects to 
be a considered and assessed. The Environmental Statement supporting the application 
presents the findings of the EIA based upon this scoping and covers a wide range of topic 
areas. The main findings of the ES are outlined below. 
 

Tudalen 23



 

 

i. Consideration of alternatives. The ES provides an assessment of the alternatives to the 
scheme that have been considered by the applicant while setting out the principal reasons 
for proceeding with the current proposal. In total, eight alternative options were considered 
which included, amongst others, the provision of a shared use path along the A40 and 
B4300, the creation of a right of way along the River Tywi, and the improvement of existing 
rights of way along the A40 corridor and creation of new linkages. The options were 
considered in consultation with key stakeholders and assessed against transport planning 
objectives and key issues such as road safety and connectivity, as well as opportunities 
such as promoting active travel and access to communities and the facilities therein. 
  
The proposal to create the shared use path along the dismantled railway offered the greatest 
overall benefits against these objectives and various alternatives for sections of the route 
were also considered for reasons such as habitats and flooding. The proposal has therefore 
considered the various environmental constraints associated with the route and, where 
applicable, incorporated them into the design. 
  
ii. Biodiversity. The ES provides an assessment of the likely effects on biodiversity within 
a survey area of the site that was determined in accordance with best practice guidance and 
based upon the scoping advice of NRW and the Council’s Planning Ecologist. It assesses 
the impact upon European and nationally designated sites, locally/non-statutory designed 
sites and desk study records of protected and notable species. Field surveys for habitats 
and protected and notable species were also undertaken. 
 
In terms of designated sites, the River Tywi SAC and SSSI are both located within the site 
and the potential impacts are assessed in the ES. The SAC is designated for supporting a 
number of protected species including otters and twaite shad fish, while the SSSI is of 
special interest in that the river supports a range of important bird, fish and insect species 
as well as otters. It also supports an important range of vegetation communities within the 
river channel as well as two rare bryophyte species. Other habitats of conservation 
importance that qualify as priority habitats under the UK Biodiversity Action Plan and Section 
7 of the Environment Wales Act (2016) that were assessed within the ES. These include 
lowland woodland areas along the route, rivers and streams including the River Cothi and 
smaller streams, ponds in the form of backwaters on the floodplain of the Tywi, hedgerows 
that segregate farmland, and flood plain grazing marsh. 
 
The assessment of the effect of the development upon these designated sites, protected 
and notable species and priority habitats included a wide range of survey work. These 
include, amongst others, an extended Phase 1 habitat survey, Bryophate and Aquatic 
Ecology assessment, Otter and Badger surveys, as well as bat surveys. The ES also 
includes an arboricultural assessment of the impact of the development upon trees along 
the route of the path which includes recommendations relating to their protection where 
necessary to ensure the health of retained trees. The design process of the scheme has 
followed the ‘stepwise’ approach’ to maintaining and enhancing biodiversity as part of the 
development by ensuring that significant biodiversity effects are firstly avoided, then 
minimised, mitigated and compensated for through a scheme of enhancement measures. 
 
Habitats. The habitat survey confirms the site consists predominantly of pastoral fields 
intersected by a network of hedgerows with scattered areas of broad-leaved semi-natural 
woodland, marshy grassland, wet meadows and standing water. The disused railway 
corridor generally consists of bare ground, scattered trees, wooded areas and dense scrub. 
The site includes two ancient woodlands which consist of coniferous plantations located at 
the eastern end of the route to the south-west of Ysgol Bro Dinefwr, one of which has 

Tudalen 24



 

 

recently been partly cleared by the landowner. They are listed as priority habitats under the 
provisions of the Environment Act 2016 and whilst areas of these woodlands will need to be 
removed to facilitate the creation of the path, the extent of clearance will be minimised given 
the width of the path and any trees removed will be replaced elsewhere within the wider site 
on a ratio of 2:1, the location of which is provided in the extensive landscape concept 
scheme accompanying the application. Whilst there are a large number of mature trees 
within the site, the arboricultural assessment confirms that those of the highest amenity 
value consisting of category A and B trees will be retained as part of the development with 
the use of arboricultural protection measures and design solutions within their root protection 
areas. 
 
Impacts upon watercourses within the site will be safeguarded with the implementation of a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) that will include a range of 
environmental protection measures to protect existing watercourses. Moreover, the timing 
of in-channel work and the construction the bridges over the River Cothi and Tywi during 
the summer months will avoid sensitive spawning times of fish in the rivers crossing the site, 
including those species upon which the Tywi has been designated as a SAC and SSSI. The 
habitat survey also recommends mitigation measures for the loss of existing hedgerows and 
areas of floodplain grazing marsh with the creation of new replacement habitats. 
Approximately 125 metres of hedgerows will be lost as part of the development and these 
will be replaced at a ratio of 2:1 along the wider route. 
 
Protected and notable species. In terms of protected and notable species, the habitat 
survey confirms that the path will potentially result in the disturbance of badger sets and 
makes a number of recommendations to mitigate the impact of the development which 
include further surveys prior to work commencing to establish whether setts continue to be 
active, and suitable buffer zones and protection measures. 
 
In terms of dormice, whilst there was no evidence of dormice within the site, the habitat 
survey includes mitigation measures to minimise potential impacts effects during the 
removal of habitats such as hedgerows and scrub within the site. A detailed method 
statement setting out the proposed measures has been provided with the clearance works 
also requiring a separate European Protected status license from NRW given the protected 
status of dormice. 
 
Targeted surveys have confirmed the presence of otters within the site which, together with 
its place of rest, is protected by various legislation including the Habitats Regulations. The 
design of the scheme has sought to minimise impacts on features suitable for otters and will 
include measures to protect existing resting sites along the route of the path from damage 
and disturbance. A number of new resting sites and holts are to be created as part of the 
scheme to compensate for the temporary disturbance during the construction phase and 
maintain the overall suitability of the area for otters. Similarly, otter travel routes along areas 
of dense ground cover are to be retained. Further pre-construction surveys of the site will 
be undertaken to confirm their presence within or in proximity of the scheme. 
 
Turning to bats, whilst the habitat survey confirms the absence of any bat roosts within the 
site, it recommends the adoption of precautionary methods when undertaking any 
dismantling works such as the removal of the River Gwynon bridge abutments along the 
route, with any trees to be removed also being the subject of pre-felling bat inspections. 
Similar precautionary measures are to be adopted to avoid causing harm to any amphibians 
and reptiles within the site with these being provided through the implementation of a CEMP 

Tudalen 25



 

 

and Ecological Management Plan (EMP). Mitigation is also provided to avoid any 
unacceptable impacts upon invertebrates, bryophytes and birds. 
 
Fish species are primary and qualifying features of the River Tywi SAC while the river 
together with the Cothin and Gwynon also supports priority species under the Environment 
Act. The survey identifies potential impacts upon these and other fish species, notably 
through the loss and disturbance of spawning habitats and sets out a series of mitigation 
measures for the construction period to minimise disturbance during the sensitive lifecycle 
stages of the fish present in the rivers.  
 
Mitigation and enhancements. The application includes a suite of specific mitigation 
measures to reduce and avoid potential effects on important ecological features identified in 
the ES, as outlined above, as well as general mitigation measures such as the use of best 
practice methods and general principles where relevant to the habitats and species present. 
These will form part of an Ecological Management Plan (EMP) and CEMP and whilst an 
outline CEMP has been provided in support of the ES, both detailed plans will be submitted 
for approval prior to the commencement of the development.  
 
The construction of the path will result in the loss of approximately 30,700 square metres of 
habitat along the route that will be replaced by the path and verges either side. The scheme 
incorporates compensation for each habitat type lost ensuring they are replaced either equal 
to or greater than their current extent in order to deliver a biodiversity net benefit as part of 
the development in accordance with the policy objective of Planning Policy Wales. The level 
of habitat replacement has been agreed with the Council’s Planning Ecologist and is based 
upon a ratio of 2:1 for the loss of woodland, trees, dense scrub and hedgerows, and 1:1 in 
relation to scattered scrub and different grassland habitats. The extent of these on-site 
mitigation measures form part of a landscape concept scheme accompanying the ES which 
includes the provision of 20 sites along the route of the path for grassland creation and the 
compensatory planting of new woodland and hedgerows that will deliver improved 
connectivity throughout the site. Hedgerows will be translocated where feasible while poor 
quality hedgerows will be enhanced to improve their biodiversity value. The landscaping will 
consist of a wide species mix including native tree and hedgerows, wetland mosaic and 
grassland, and scrub planting mixes and be suitable for species such as dormice and 
invertebrates. 
 
The overall scheme will deliver a net benefit for biodiversity and ecosystem resilience in the 
long term and include detailed measures of the management and monitoring of the species 
and habitats over a 25-year period. On this basis, the ES concludes that the design of the 
scheme combined with the specific and targeted mitigation measures to be employed for 
the protection of habitats and species using the River Tywi SAC and SSSI and its qualifying 
features will result in negligible biodiversity impacts.  
 
iii. Landscape and Visual. The ES provides an assessment of the likely effects of the 
change resulting from the development on the landscape as well as the views and general 
visual amenity of those who live within proximity of and may be affected by the path. The 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment relates to both the construction and operational 
phases of the phases of the path and identifies key features and landscape designations 
within the vicinity of the scheme which include local and national landscape designations. 
At a national level, the site is located 0.5km from the Brecon Beacons National Park located 
at its south-eastern end beyond Ffairfach, while at a local level the site falls within the Tywi 
Valley Special Landscape Area designated under Policy EQ6 of the LDP. The site is also 
located within the Towy Valley Registered Landscape of Outstanding Historic Interest in 

Tudalen 26



 

 

recognition of the wider area being rich in heritage features, and the assessment also 
considered the visual impact of the path within the context of national landscape character 
areas and LANDMAP, and nearby settlements and public rights of way. 
  
The ES assesses the visual impact of the scheme from 45 visual receptor points in the area 
surrounding the site which were agreed with the Council’s landscape officer. They included 
viewpoints from neighbouring properties, public rights of way and other publicly accessible 
areas, historic sites and heritage assets, as well as local roads and lanes. It acknowledges 
that there will be some significant effects upon the existing landscape character during the 
construction phase of the development with, for example, disturbed land and a concentration 
of discordant features and activities, however, these will all be on a short-term basis. 
 
In terms of landscape character, whilst the path and the new bridges will appear as a new 
noticeable feature within the landscape and result in the loss of a small proportion of its 
existing characteristics such as trees and hedgerows, the assessment concludes that it will 
not alter the balance of features that make up the landscape character as a whole. The mix 
of roads, tracks and public rights of way, and scattered villages and farms in the wider area, 
combined with the existing screening vegetation along the railway embankment and new 
mitigation planting will allow the path to integrate into the surrounding area and views without 
having a significant effect upon the surrounding landscape character. Moreover, its effect 
will reduce over time as the mitigation planting proposed along the route, particularly around 
the bridges, will mature.  On this basis, the ES concludes the path will have no significant 
effect upon character of the surrounding landscape and its local and national designations. 
Further, in terms of the National Park, the separating distances and intervening screening 
vegetation will mean the path will be indiscernible in the wider panoramic views from those 
areas of the Brecon Beacons National Park to the east of the site.  
 
As to the effect upon the visual amenity of sensitive receptors along the route such as local 
residents or visitors to the historic sites and heritage assets in the area, whilst the proposal 
would introduce visibility of the path and bridges to certain local residents, road users and 
visitors, the full extent of the path would be screened by the existing vegetation along the 
disused railway line as well as hedgerows, woodland areas and trees along the bottom of 
the Tywi Valley. The path will be clearly noticeable to certain properties long the route 
including existing bungalows located off Station Road in Nantgaredig at the western 
periphery of the site and a number of other residential properties and a caravan site along 
the route, while the majority of properties will have more distant views interrupted by 
intervening vegetation. The route will predominantly follow an existing road or track in those 
areas close to residential properties whereby the visual impact would consist of path users 
passing to the front or side of the curtilages of the properties. 
  
iv. Heritage and Archaeology. The site lies in a rich historic environment which includes a 
mix of designated historic assets such as Listed Buildings, Scheduled Monuments, 
conservation areas and registered parks and gardens. The ES assessed an inner study area 
extending 50 metres from the limits of the site to establish the known historic context and 
potential for hitherto unknown below-ground archaeological remains, and a second wider 
area for the assessment of the setting of designated sites and conservation areas which 
extended up to 1km form the site. 
 
The assessment identified five sensitive receptors along the route which include the Maes 
y Crug and Ffairfach Standing Stone Scheduled Monuments (SM) and the site of Abercothy 
Cottage which, despite not being a designated historic asset and the building no longer 

Tudalen 27



 

 

being present, is nonetheless of historic interest with potential for below ground 
archaeological remains. 
 
The Maes y Crug Round Barrow SM is located directly to the north of the proposed route to 
the east of Nantgaredig but will not be physically impacted by the path. Whilst the 
construction phase of the scheme has the potential to affect the appreciation of the 
monument within its setting, this will only occur for a short period. The Ffairfach Standing 
Stone SM is located some 130 metres beyond the eastern boundary of the site and is 
screened by hedgerows and trees whereby there will be no impact upon its setting. 
 
The scheme will physically impact upon the remains associated with Abercothy Cottage, 
and the ES confirms that the potential impact will be mitigated by undertaking an 
archaeological watching brief in consultation with the Dyfed Archaeological Trust to assess 
and preserve any remains encountered as part of the work.  
 
v. Water Environment and Flood Risk. The ES provides an assessment of the likely 
environmental effects of the development upon the water environment. These include the 
potential increased pollution and sedimentation risks associated with the construction 
phase, impacts to the hydromorphological quality of watercourses from works such as the 
installation and alteration of culverts and bridges, the risks of flooding to users of the path, 
as well as potential increased flood risk to property associated with loss of floodplain 
storage. To inform the assessment, a number of supporting documents have been provided 
with the ES including a Flood Consequence Assessment, Geomorphological Dynamics 
Assessment of the Rivers Tywi and Cothi, and Water Framework Directive Assessment. 
  
The geomorphological dynamic assessment was undertaken to inform a risk assessment of 
where river channel enhancement or restoration options will be needed along the river Tywi 
to protect the route of the path from erosion. It identifies 5 risk zones along the river where 
it falls within 100 metres of the railway embankment and confirms that the active erosion of 
the left bank of the river will impact upon the proposed route of the path on the railway 
embankment in two of these zones. The first is at Riverside Woods/Allt Panglas to the west 
of Golden Gove where the rate of erosion is threating the railway embankment, while the 
second at land near Llety Glyd Farm to the east of Gelli Aur Farm, a section of the railway 
embankment has already been heavily eroded by the river. These risks have led to the 
deviation of the route of the path from the alignment of the railway embankment in these two 
areas with the diverted route being in the form of a boardwalk construction raised above the 
low-lying existing ground levels of the floodplain to avoid the loss of floodplain storage. 
  
In terms of flood risk, the ES highlights that a significant proportion of the path will be located 
within Zone C of the Development Advice Maps and Flood Zones 2 and 3 of NRWs Flood 
Map for Planning and will not be flood-free for a 1% (1 in 100) annual probability flood event. 
However, it recognises that one of the fundamental principles of the scheme is to re-use and 
follow the alignment of the disused railway line whilst also confirming that it would be 
impractical to undertake physical works to modify the path to meet the acceptability criteria 
of TAN 15 by, for example, raising the level of the path, given the likely impact upon flood 
risk elsewhere. By utilising the railway embankment and raised boardwalks in the diverted 
areas referred to above, the ES confirms that the path together with its associated bridge 
and other structures will have negligible impacts upon existing flood risk to third party land 
and property. 
 
With regard the risks of flooding to path users, the application has been accompanied by a 
Flood Management Plan which sets out a series of measures to be implemented to ensure 

Tudalen 28



 

 

the path is not used during periods of flooding and avoiding the possibility of path users 
encountering hazards in a flood event. The section of path between Llanarthne and Ffairfach 
is at a high risk of flooding with limited flood free egress routes and the Management Plan 
proposes to close this section of the path prior to the commencement of flooding in the River 
Tywi with the use of active signage triggered by sensors which record flood levels. 
Information boards, marker posts and signage will be used to direct users to the closest 
flood free egress routes. Whilst the section of path between Nantgaredig and Llanarthne is 
also at risk from flooding, the risk of being isolated by floodwater is low with flood free egress 
routes being available along public rights of way. The risk to users will be reduced with the 
use of passive signage. 
 
The Water Framework Directive (WFD) Assessment accompanying the ES concludes that 
the scheme will not cause any degradation of the overall WFD status of the River Tywi, River 
Cothi or the Tywi, Taf and Gwendraeths groundwater body. 
 
vi. Ground conditions and contamination. The ES presents the findings of an 
assessment of the potential effects of soil and ground water contamination, ground stability 
and controlled waters upon the environment and human health. It also considers the effect 
on agricultural land and soil. The assessment identifies a number of potential residual effects 
during the construction phase of the development such as the disturbance of contaminated 
ground along the railway embankment and outlines a series of mitigation measures to 
address these. 
  
In terms of the effect upon agricultural land, the scheme will lead to the temporary loss of 
agricultural land during the construction period as well as some permanent loss in areas 
where the path deviates from the railway embankment, as referred to above. Those areas 
temporarily affected will be restored following the completion of the development. A small 
area of the site is classified as Subgrade 3a Best and Most Versatile (BMV) agricultural land, 
and whilst the path in these areas will impact upon of some of this land, the extent of the 
loss of the BMV will not be significant.  
 
vii. Population and Human Health. The ES assesses the effect of the development upon 
the local population and human health focussing primarily on existing land uses and 
accessibility. Whilst the construction phase of the development will result in temporary 
disruption to access to certain private properties and farm holdings, access will be 
maintained throughout the construction phase and the applicant will engage with the 
residents and farm operators prior to any impacting activities taking place. This will ensure 
that the functional viability of agricultural businesses will not be disrupted. A number of public 
rights of way will be temporarily closed and diverted for the duration of the works with the 
diversions having been designed to minimise disturbance in terms of distance and journey 
time. Once completed, the path will deliver enhanced connectivity in the surrounding area 
and will not have any direct or indirect impacts upon human health. 
 
Planning Site History 
 
The following previous applications have been received on the application site:- 
  
PL/03029 - Siting of 3 Shepherd's Huts for self-catering holiday purposes - Pending 
  
E/37432 - Certificate of lawful development for existing use as a builders' storage yard - 
Certificate of lawful development granted 10 October 2018 
  

Tudalen 29



 

 

E/27510 - Construction of new 1200 pupil secondary school and associated 30 pupil 
specialist unit, together with layout of external sports and play areas and associated 
facilities, including for the purpose of vehicular, pedestrian and cycle access, car parking 
- Full planning permission 26 April 2013 
 
D4/6622 - Electricity Supply - Approved with conditions 25 September 2025 
  
D4/5222 - Electricity Supply - Approved with conditions 16 August 2016 
  
Planning Policy 
 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (Adopted December 2014) (‘the LDP’)  
  
SP1 - Sustainable Places and Spaces                                                                    
SP2 - Climate Change 
SP9 - Transportation  
SP13 - Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic Environment 
SP14 - Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 
SP15 - Tourism and Visitor Economy 
SP16 - Community Facilities  
SP17 - Infrastructure 
GP1 - Sustainability and High Quality Design 
H1 - Housing Allocations 
TR2 - Location of Development – Transport Considerations 
TR3 - Highways in Developments – Design Considerations 
TR4 - Cycling and Walking  
TR6 - Redundant Rail Corridors 
EQ1 - Protection of Buildings, Landscapes and Features of Historic Importance 
EQ4 - Biodiversity  
EQ5 - Corridors, Networks and Features of Distinctiveness  
EQ6 - Special Landscape Areas 
EP1 - Water Quality and Resources 
EP2 - Pollution 
EP3 - Sustainable Drainage 
  
National Planning Policy  
 
National Planning Policy and Guidance is provided in Future Wales: The National Plan 2040, 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 11, February 2021 and associated Technical Advice 
Notes (TANs) published by Welsh Government. 
 
Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
Head of Transportation & Highways - Has no objection subject to the imposition of a 
condition requiring the submission of a Construction Traffic Management Plan prior to the 
commencement of the development.  
  
Head of Public Protection - Has no objection subject to the imposition of a condition 
requiring a risk assessment of potential ground contamination along the route of the path 
prior to the commencement of the development. 
  
Welsh Government (Transport) - Have no objection. 

Tudalen 30

http://www.cartogold.co.uk/CarmarthenshireLDP/english/text/00_Contents.htm
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes


 

 

  
Cadw - Have no objection. 
  
Welsh Water - Have no objection. 
  
Coal Authority - Have no objection. 
  
Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB) - Have confirmed that the surface water 
drainage scheme proposed to serve the path will require separate SAB approval. 
  
Public Rights of Way - Have no objection in that the proposal will improve and enhance 
existing public rights of way along the route of the path. 
  
Network Rail - Have no objection. 
  
Dyfed Archaeological Trust - Have no objection subject to the imposition of a condition 
securing a written scheme of investigation for an archaeological watching brief. 
  
National Grid - Have no objection. 
  
Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Service - Have no objection. 
  
Welsh Government (Agricultural Land Use and Soil Policy Advisor) - Advise that the 
site potentially includes 0.6 hectare of the Best and Most Versatile (BMV) agricultural land 
and it is a matter for the local planning authority to consider the potential impact of the loss 
of this land within the context of the policy advice contained in Planning Policy Wales. 
  
Police Liaison Officer - Has not commented on the application to date.  
  
Natural Resources Wales - Have raised no objection. Advise that the applicant will need 
to undertake a Habitats Regulations Assessment of the proposal to determine whether there 
will be an impact upon the features of the River Towy SAC and any mitigation measures 
required. They highlight the need to ensure the construction of the path and associated pile 
driving allows for the free passage and migration of fish in the river. Further, following a 
review of the FCA accompanying the application, they agree with its findings that large 
sections of the path will be affected by flooding but that it would be impractical to undertake 
physical works to mitigate to modify the path to meet the requirements of TAN 15 given that 
it would likely impact upon flood risk elsewhere. They confirm that the path will not cause 
any change in flood risk to the surrounding area and support the applicant’s proposal to 
implement a Flood Risk Management Plan that will implement warning and management 
measures to ensure path users are not exposed to flood hazards. 
  
In addition, NRW have confirmed that they are unable to provide European Protected 
Species comments on the proposal and have advised officers to revert to the advice of our 
own Planning Ecologist on these matters. 
  
Town Community Councils - Llandeilo Town Council question why the original proposal 
to extend the path beyond Bro Dinefwr School and behind the existing mart, before 
egressing onto the A483 to the south of Llandeilo Bridge has changed. They suggest that 
reverting to this original route would provide a safer route between the school and Llandeilo 
by keeping users away from the A class road, while also avoiding the roundabout at Ffairfach 

Tudalen 31



 

 

on the A483 which, it is suggested, is a dangerous point for pupils walking from Llandeilo to 
the School.  
  
Dyffryn Cennen, Llanarthne, Llanegwad, Llanfihangel Aberbythych and Llangathen 
Community Councils have not commented on the application to date.  
  
Local Members - County Councillor Edward Thomas supports the proposal highlighting that 
it will result in an economic benefit to the area with increased tourism while creating a safer 
route for cyclists and walkers by avoiding the busy B4300 and A40 roadways. Refers to the 
need to investigate the connectivity from the end of the path at Ysgol Bro Dinefwr to Llandeilo 
and the need to encourage users of the path to visit Llandeilo and its range of shops and 
facilities. He also refers to the links to the railway station in Ffairfach. 
  
County Councillors Ann Davies and Hefin Jones have not commented on the application to 
date. Councillor Mansel Charles is a member of the Planning Committee and has also not 
commented on the application to date. 
  
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 
Summary of Public Representations 
 
The original application was the subject of notification by way of the posting of thirteen site 
notices along the proposed route of the path as well as the publication of a notice in the local 
newspaper. Subsequent additional and amended information submitted by the applicant 
have been publicised with further site and press notices. In response, 5 letters of 
representation have been received from neighbouring residents which raise the following 
issues of concern. It should be noted that one of the letters of representation is from the 
Carmarthenshire Residents’ Action Group, however, it provides no indication of how many 
residents and precisely whom it has been submitted on behalf of. 
  
• The potential impact of the path upon prescriptive rights to use the existing track to move 

livestock and machinery between field enclosures. 
• Concerns regarding the use of the track by racing bicycles that travel at high speeds 

and the impact upon safety and wildlife.  
• Littering along the route of the path and the impact upon wildlife and livestock. 
• The presence of stag deer in the area and the potential impact upon the safety of those 

using the path. 
• Potential impact upon the operation of the farm at Beili Glas and the movement of 

animals over and along the path. 
• Impact upon the value of working farms. 
• Concerns regarding the surface treatment of parts of the path to be used by agricultural 

vehicles. 
• Concerns regarding how the applicant will prevent the public from accessing fields along 

the route where livestock will be grazing and access to the fields by dogs and the health 
impact upon livestock in terms of dog faeces and livestock worrying. Suggest the use of 
heavy duty galvanised gates and signage to prevent access. 

• Would create an access for burglars to properties along the route and potential increase 
in crime. 

• Loss of privacy on neighbouring farms. 
• Risks of flooding to parts of the path will mean that parts of it will be unusable during 

flood events and be danger to cyclists and pedestrians using the path.  

Tudalen 32

http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 

 

• Raising the path above the flooding will mean it will be over 3 metres high and be visually 
intrusive being located immediately below Dinefwr Castle. 

• The former railway line has been returning to the natural environment for over 50 years 
and the proposal will result in the loss of habitats that have developed along the route 
and impact upon the fauna such as bats that are dependent on these. 

• The proposal will result in the significant loss of ancient woodland and hedgerows along 
the route. The mitigation scheme does not allocate the same physical space for the 
planting as the losses nor are details provided as to how they will be managed over 
time. 

• Lack of consultation by the applicant. 
• Impact upon swans who frequent an area adjacent to the proposed route. 
• Impact upon wildlife such as sandpipers, little ringed plovers dippers and kingfishers, 

amphibians and rare plants. 
• Impact upon the ability of the neighbouring Hendy Farm to run the farm productively and 

keep livestock safe. 
• Concerns regarding how the path will be managed to keep it free from litter and debris 

and protect wildlife.  
• The applicant has failed to follow due process with regard to consulting affected land-

owners over the route of the path or appropriately entering into negotiation for the sale 
of the land required for the path.  

• The potential need to Compulsory Purchase individual parcels of land and rights along 
the route would indicate that voluntary sales have not been negotiated and the Council 
have sought recourse to a CPO without entering into proper negotiations. It also gives 
the impression that landowners are universally opposed to the path.  

• NRW have raised concerns regarding the flooding impact of the development and asked 
the applicant to provide a Flood Risk Management Plan which has not provided to date. 

• The closure of the path during periods of flooding will impact upon its economic benefits 
to the local area. 

• Question whether the construction of the path is viable and concerns that the burden of 
any shortfall in funding will be passed on to local tax payers. 

  
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
  
Appraisal 
 
Principle of the development 
 
Policy TR4 ‘Cycling and Walking’ of the adopted LDP endorses the principle of developing 
a new cycle route along the Towy Valley between Carmarthen and Llandeilo by 
safeguarding land required to facilitate its construction. The route of the path along the 
railway embankment is clearly defined in the proposals map of the Plan and safeguarded 
under this policy, with its re-use for recreational activities in the form of a new cycle route 
and footpath being reinforced by Policy TR6 ‘Redundant Rail Corridors’ which seeks to 
prevent development proposals that would prejudice its re-use for such purposes. Further, 
cycling and walking form an integral part of the Plan’s strategic objectives set out in Policy 
SP9 ‘Transportation’ of achieving a safe and efficient integrated transport system that 
reduces reliance on private transport such as the car, and promoting greater accessibility 
and active travel choices which, ultimately, will contribute towards healthier lifestyles and 
wellbeing benefits to the population of the County. 
  

Tudalen 33

http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 

 

The western phase of the path between Abergwili and Nantgaredig already has the benefit 
of planning permission and although the route of the eastern phase currently proposed 
deviates in part from the railway embankment safeguarded in the LDP, this is reflective of 
environmental constraints encountered as part of the design of the scheme in areas where 
the embankment is being actively eroded by the River Towy or to avoid the loss of existing 
landscape features. The path broadly follows the route of the embankment safeguarded in 
the LDP and where it does deviate, it is not to an extent that takes the scheme outside the 
context of the objectives of the Policy TR4 of safeguarding the route and delivering cycling 
and walking network improvements along the Towy Valley. It will offer a safe and direct route 
for pedestrians and cyclists travelling to and from the wide range of services and facilities 
available in Carmarthen and Llandeilo as well as improving accessibility to the various 
settlements, communities and tourist facilities in the local area. The path will interact with 
five existing public rights while utilising sections of these along its route thereby promoting 
and improving accessibility throughout the area via cycling and walking. It will offer 
numerous benefits in terms of active travel and health and well-being while also enhancing 
opportunities for recreation and tourism. The path will itself become a tourist destination 
affording users with a unique opportunity to walk and cycle along the attractive setting of the 
Towy Valley with views of its surroundings, helping to attract visitors to the area and 
providing economic benefits to existing businesses and tourist facilities whereby visitors 
would use and visit these as well as local attractions. The scheme will also deliver economic 
benefits during the construction phase with the creation of new employment opportunities.  
  
The proposal is therefore considered to be in accord with the objectives of Policies SP9, 
TR4 and TR6 of the LPD. It also aligns with the wider corporate objectives of the Council 
set out in its various plans and strategies which include, amongst others, the 
Carmarthenshire Well-being and Strategic Regeneration Plans and Corporate Strategy 
which seek to improve the health and wellbeing of residents by encouraging healthy and 
active lifestyles, while also creating new walking and cycling facilities as tourist attractions 
and providing sustainable travel options to employment sites, schools and tourist facilities. 
The path is also an integral element of the Council’s Cycling and Active Travel Strategies 
and their objectives of improving existing infrastructure and facilities. 
  
From a national planning policy perspective, the path is in accord with the advice of Planning 
Policy Wales in encouraging the re-use of redundant railway lines to provide safe and 
attractive cycle routes and footpaths, and its policy emphasis of focussing on sustainable 
and non-motorised travel to reduce the reliance on the private car and support a modal shift 
to public transport, walking, cycling and their associated health and well-being benefits. 
Similarly, the scheme complies with the focus of the Welsh Government’s national plan for 
Wales, ‘Future Wales : The National Plan 2040’ of delivering more active travel and 
sustainable transport infrastructure. In recognition of the foregoing and the sustainability, 
well-being and economic benefits of the scheme, it is noteworthy that the applicant has 
secured significant grant funding towards the cost of constructing the path, both at a local 
level from the Welsh Government and a National level from the UK Government through its 
Levelling-up Fund. 
  
Biodiversity and Landscape 
 
A number of the respondents have raised concerns regarding the ecological effects of the 
scheme with particular regard to the impact upon fish, birds, amphibians and plants, 
however, the ES and its supporting ecological and habitat surveys provide a cogent 
assessment of the effect of the development upon biodiversity both in terms of the European 
and nationally designated sites within proximity of the site and protected and notable 

Tudalen 34



 

 

species. It has assessed the impact upon the River Tywi SAC and SSSI and their qualifying 
features and protected species, while habitats afforded protection under the UK Biodiversity 
Action Plan and the Environment Act have also been assessed. The ES demonstrates that, 
with the implementation of the targeted mitigation and enhancement measures proposed, 
the development will not have any unacceptable material effect upon the River Tywi SAC 
and SSSI and its qualifying features, nor will it cause any harm to other protected and 
notable species and habitats.  
  
The scale and extent of the development will inevitably result in the loss of existing habitats 
along the route of the path, particularly the wooded and dense scrub areas that have 
developed along parts of the embankment. However, the extent of the loss has been 
carefully considered through the design of the scheme which has included alignment 
changes to minimise the land take and impact upon designated sites and priority habitats. 
The path will result in the loss of existing hedgerows and trees, however, the alignment 
seeks to retain all the mature trees that are of the highest amenity value through suitable 
design and protection measures. The design incorporates compensation for the habitats lost 
whereby they will be replaced within the wider site either equal to or greater than their current 
extent to deliver an overall net benefit for biodiversity improving ecosystem resilience in 
accordance with the objectives of Planning Policy Wales and the Environment Act 2016 and, 
ultimately, provide a valuable corridor along the route for both biodiversity and recreation 
use.  
  
NRW have confirmed that they are not in a position to provide advice on the biodiversity and 
ecological impacts of the scheme and have instead reverted to the advice of our Planning 
Ecologist. The Ecologist has confirmed his acceptance of the findings of the ES and has 
raised no objection to the development subject to the imposition of suitable conditions 
securing the mitigation measures proposed and their future management, as set out in the 
ES. The conditions will secure the submission of the management plans that will deliver the 
targeted mitigation based upon the recommendations of the ES, notably the CEMP and 
EMP, in addition to the detailed landscaping scheme and proposals for its future 
management and monitoring. Moreover, in accordance with the requirements of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), officers have 
undertaken an Appropriate Assessment of the impact of the development upon the River 
Tywi SAC which concludes that, with the implementation of the mitigation measures, the 
development will not have a detrimental effect upon the SAC and its qualifying features. The 
Appropriate Assessment has been sent to NRW for approval and the recommendation to 
grant planning permission is subject to them firstly confirming their acceptance of its 
conclusions. 
  
In terms of the concerns raised regarding the visual impact of the development, the 
landscape officer has confirmed his acceptance of the findings of the ES and its landscape 
and visual impact assessment that, with the implementation of the mitigation planting, the 
path will not have an unacceptable impact upon the surrounding landscape character and 
its designation as a Special Landscape Area in the LDP. The path and its associated 
structures will appear as a new noticeable feature in the wider landscape, however, it will 
not be discordant with the existing mix of roads, tracks and scattered farmsteads and 
settlements which, together with the watercourses, pasture land and hedgerows and 
wooded areas contribute to its character and appearance. The design of the scheme will 
ensure the balance of features will not be unacceptably altered with the bridges and 
crossings having been designed to integrate with the existing landscape. The railway 
embankment is well vegetated and screened along much of its route which, combined with 

Tudalen 35



 

 

the extensive planting mitigation proposed, will help the path assimilate into the surrounding 
area and views without disturbing its overall character and appearance. 
  
CADW have also confirmed that the path will not cause any harm to the registered Tywi 
Valley landscape of outstanding historic interest in that it will primarily follow the line of the 
former railway line which previously introduced a linear travel route into the historic 
landscape. It should be noted that NRW sought a further assessment of the likely visual 
impact of the path upon the Brecon Beacons National Park, however, following a site visit 
by officers and the provision of further information relating to an additional viewpoint in the 
Park, they are satisfied that the path will not form a prominent or discordant feature in the 
wider panoramic views of the Towy Valley. 
  
The proposal is therefore in accord with the objectives of Policies SP14, EQ1, EQ4, EQ5, 
EQ6, EP1 and EP2 of the LDP as well as those National Planning Policy in that it will not 
result in any unacceptable biodiversity or landscape impacts.  
  
Flooding 
 
Certain of the respondents refer to the risks of flooding to the path suggesting that parts will 
be unusable during flood events and be a danger to cyclists and pedestrians using the path. 
This matter has been assessed as part of the ES and accompanying FCA which 
acknowledges that a significant proportion of the path falls within Zone C2 of the 
Development Advice Maps and Zones 2 and 3 of the Flood Map for Planning and will not be 
flood free in the 1 in 100 annual probability flood event. It is noteworthy that a large part of 
the western phase of the path that already has planning permission also falls within an area 
at risk of flooding.  
  
It is acknowledged that sections of the path will be submerged due to the high flows of the 
river Tywi, however, it would be impractical to undertake physical works to mitigate this by, 
for example, raising the level of the path given the likely impact upon flooding elsewhere. 
The alignment of the path along the embankment and raised boardwalks, bridges and other 
structures have been designed to ensure the path will not have an unacceptable impact on 
the risk of flooding to surrounding third party land and property, whilst its hard surface finish 
will prevent any damage from floodwaters. When flooding does occur along the route, the 
water levels will rise slowly over the floodplain whereby they will not present an immediate 
danger to path users in the form of a flash flood event. Nonetheless, similar to the western 
phase of the path, the scheme will implement a wide range of flood management measures 
that will include closing sections of the path with the use of active warning signage to ensure 
the path is not used during periods of flooding to safeguard the safety of users. Other 
measures will include marker posts and signage that will direct users to flood free egress 
points. 
  
Based upon previous flood records, it is estimated that the section of the path between 
Llanarthne and Ffairfach, which is at the highest risk of flooding, would have been closed on 
average four times a year over the last 32 years. The extent of the period of closure of the 
path is therefore unlikely to materially affect its economic benefits to the local area, as 
suggested by one the respondents. 
  
NRW have raised no objection to the application on flood risk grounds and accepted the 
findings of the ES and FCA that the scheme will not have an unacceptable impact upon the 
risks of flooding in the surrounding area. Moreover, they support the implementation of the 
warning and management measures proposed.  

Tudalen 36



 

 

  
Within the context of the requirements of TAN 15, sections 6 and 7 of the TAN permit 
developments in Zone C where they are determined by the Planning Authority to be justified 
in that location and subject to it complying with a number of qualifying criteria or tests. The 
scheme complies with the first of these tests in that it forms an integral part of the Council’s 
Corporate objective of creating new walking and cycling facilities as both tourist attractions 
and to provide sustainable travel options within the County, and improving the health and 
wellbeing of residents by encouraging healthy and active lifestyles. It is also in accord with 
the TAN’s requirement that the site concurs with the aims of Planning Policy Wales, as 
referred to above, while also meeting the definition of previously developed land whereby it 
is primarily located along a former railway embankment. Finally, in terms of the 
consequences of flooding test, the path constitutes a less vulnerable development as 
defined in the TAN and through the implementation of the measures contained in the Flood 
Management Plan, the risks of flooding to the path will be managed to protect the safety of 
its users.  
  
The proposal is therefore considered to be in accord with the policy objectives of TAN 15 
and Policy SP2 of the LDP in terms of the risks of flooding to the development.  
  
Historic Environment and Archaeology 
 
Cadw have highlighted that the route of the path will be located within 3km of a number of 
historic assets including numerous scheduled monuments and registered historic parks and 
gardens. They’ve advised that the intervening topography and screening vegetation will 
ensure there will be no impact upon the settings of all these historic assets, apart from the 
Maes y Crug round barrow scheduled monument which is located immediately adjacent to 
the north side of the route. The route of the path will mean that it will be visible from the 
scheduled monument, however, Cadw have opined that those using the path will only be 
visible for very short periods which will not have a harmful effect on the way the monument 
is experienced, understood and appreciated.  
  
The Council’s Built Heritage Officer has confirmed that the scheme will cause no harm to 
the setting of listed buildings along the route while also causing no harm to the character 
and appearance of the nearby Conservation Areas of Llangathen and Llandeilo. The Dyfed 
Archaeological Trust have recommended the imposition of a condition requiring the 
applicant to undertake an archaeological watching brief as part of the construction work to 
assess and preserve any archaeological remains encountered. 
  
The proposal is therefore in accord with the policy objectives of Policies SP13 and EQ1 of 
the LDP in that it will cause no material harm to the historic environment.  
  
Other Matters 
 
One of the respondents has raised concern regarding the impact of the path upon their 
current privacy suggesting that it would affect the quiet enjoyment of their property. The 
property in question, Hendy Farm, is located close to Llettyglyd Farm where the path diverts 
away from route of the embankment which has been heavily eroded by the river. As 
indicated above, the diverted route will be in the form of a boardwalk that will be set above 
the existing ground level. The path will be located to the east of the respondent’s property 
being approximately 150 metres distant of its domestic curtilage which will be screened from 
the path by existing agricultural buildings that will obscure any views of the farmhouse and 
its garden. Moreover, the route of the path at this location is to be the subject of new tree 

Tudalen 37



 

 

and woodland planting that will screen any easterly views of the path from the property and 
those located immediately to the north. Whilst the path will run close to residential properties 
elsewhere along its route, nonetheless, the impact would be restricted to path users walking 
or cycling past their front or side curtilages and it is of note that no objections have been 
received from the occupiers of the properties in question.  
  
The proposal is therefore in compliance with the policy GP1 of the LDP in that will not result 
in any residential amenity impacts.  
  
In terms of the concerns regarding the impact of the path upon the operation of existing farm 
business and the movement of livestock, although there will be temporary disruption to 
accesses to a number of farms and properties as part of the construction phase of the path, 
nonetheless, access will be maintained throughout this period and the applicant will engage 
with the landowners to ensure the operation and financial viability of the businesses in 
question are not unacceptably harmed. Once completed, the path will cause no disruption 
to existing farms whereby existing accesses along and onto the route of the path will be 
maintained. The surfacing of those sections of the route currently used by farm holdings will 
be designed for use by agricultural machinery, while barriers and galvanised gated 
entrances together with suitable signage will be incorporated at key crossing points along 
the route to manage access and egress to ensure the safety of all users.  
  
There is no evidence to suggest that the speed of cyclists using the path will cause a hazard 
to users and wildlife with the alignment of the path providing good visibility along the route. 
The Head of Transport has raised no objection in this regard. The use of fencing and gates 
along the route will prevent access onto surrounding agricultural land thereby safeguarding 
both livestock and users of the path, and Dyfed Powys Police have not raised concerns that 
the path will result in an increase in the incidence of crime in the area, as suggested by one 
of the respondents. As to concerns regarding potential littering, bins will be provided at key 
intersections along the route. 
  
Whilst the path will result in the loss of an area of agricultural land classified as Subgrade 
3a Best and Most Versatile (BMV) agricultural land, the extent of this loss will not be 
significant given the route will primarily follow the railway embankment. The deviations from 
the embankment onto agricultural land are necessary to address environmental constraints 
along its route that would impact upon its construction and longevity. In this regard, the 
proposal accords with the objectives of paragraphs 3.59 of Planning Policy Wales of 
retaining the BMV agricultural land whereby there is an overriding need for the development 
in meeting the Council Corporate objective of improving the health and wellbeing of 
residents and creating new walking and cycling facilities as both sustainable travel routes 
and tourist attractions. Further, there is no alternative previously developed land or land of 
a lower agricultural grade available to accommodate the route. 
  
Concerns regarding the lack of consultation with landowners or other interested parties are 
unfounded whereby the proposal has been the subject of extensive consultation both prior 
to and following the receipt of the planning application. The former included the need for the 
applicant to undertake pre-application consultation in accordance with the prescribed 
statutory requirements and the application and subsequent additional information have been 
publicised in accordance with the relevant EIA Regulations. 
  
Matters relating to the perceived lack of negotiation with landowners and the applicant’s 
recourse to compulsory purchase the land required for the path are not material in the 
consideration of the application. Similarly, concerns that any shortfall in funding will be borne 

Tudalen 38



 

 

by local taxpayers are also not relevant to the proposal, as is the perceived impact upon 
property prices. 
  
Finally, members will have noted that Llandeilo Town Council have questioned why the 
applicant’s original proposal to extend the path beyond Bro Dinefwr School egressing onto 
the A483 to the south of Llandeilo Bridge has changed. This change to the extent of the 
route is as a result of comments received from the Welsh Government’s Transport Division 
during the pre-application consultation stage wherein they advised that part of the route 
beyond the school crossed the potential route of the Llandeilo by-pass which is safeguarded 
by the Welsh Government for this purpose. It has therefore been omitted on the basis of 
Welsh Government advice. 
 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The decision considers the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under 
section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). The 
decision takes into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and it 
is considered that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle 
through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives 
set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Conclusion 
 
After careful examination of the site, together with the representations received to date, the 
proposed development is considered to be acceptable and in compliance with the key policy 
objectives of the Authority’s LDP as well as those of National Planning Policy. Further, the 
application has attracted no objections from the relevant statutory consultees. 
  
For these reasons, the application is put forward with a favourable recommendation subject 
to NRW confirming their acceptance of the Authority’s Appropriate Assessment which 
concludes that, with the implementation of the mitigation measures, the development will 
not have a detrimental effect upon the River Tywi SAC and its qualifying features. 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION - Approval 
 
 
Conditions & Reasons 
 
Condition 1 
 
The works hereby granted consent shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission.  
  
Reason: 
Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
  
 
 

Tudalen 39



 

 

Condition 2 
 
The works hereby granted consent shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details 
shown on the following schedule of plans and documents : 
  
• Appendix 2.F – Habitats Regulations Assessment – WSP, December 2022 
• Arboricultural Technical Note – WSP, 12 May 2023 
• Appendix 2E – Habitats Regulations Assessment, Stage 1, Screening Habitats – WSP, 

July 2019 
 

 received on 12 May 2023 
  
• Appendix 7.2 – Historic Desk-based Assessment – WSP, May 2023 
• Figure 9.2 – River Centrelines – Pages 1-6 
• Figure 9.1 – Water Environment Constraints – Pages 1-6 

 
 received on 10 May 2023 
  
• Figure 2.1 - Environmental constraints plans 
• Figure 7.3 – Historic landscape areas 
• Figure 6.2 – Landscape character (Rev C) 
• Figure 7.2 – Non-designated heritage asset plans 
• Figure 7.1a and Figure 7.1b – Designated heritage asset plan  
• Figure 3.2 – Structure plans 
• Concept landscape masterplan and plans 1-15 (0100-0115) 
• Figure 6.4 – 6.14 Viewpoints 
• Figure 6.1 – Zone of theoretical visibility/visual envelope (Rev C) 
• Figure 6.3 – Landscape concept (Rev C) 

 
 received on 9 May 2023 
  
• CEMP Example of sediment management methodology - WSP  

 
 received 11 May 2023 
  
• CEMP Pollution Mitigation Examples 

 
 received 5 May 2023 
  
• Figure 3.1 – Work packages overview plan and typical details 
• Figure 3.3 – Compound area plans 
• Figure 3.4 – Detailed Section Plans  

 
 received on 28 April 2023 
  
• 1:5000 scale location plans (1-8) 
• Work packages overview plan – eastern section – E9 (WPO.E.E9 Rev A) 

 
received on 30 March 2023 
  
 

Tudalen 40



 

 

• Figure 2 – Tree removal plans 
 

 received on 24 March 2023 
  
• Flood consequence assessment – Atkins, March 2023 
• Appendix A - Scheme location [5183018-ATK-XX-XX-MP-G-004] 
• Appendix A – Wider Sub-Area 2 [5183018-ATK-XX-XX-MP-G-0025 P02] 
• Appendix A - Wider Sub-Area2 [5183018-ATK-XX-XX-MP-G-0030 P02] 
• Appendix A - Wider Lylety Diff [5183018-ATK-XX-XX-MP-G-0058 P03] 
• Appendix A - Wider Lylety Diff [5183018-ATK-XX-XX-MP-G-0059 P03] 
• Appendix B - Figure 3.2 Structure E-12 CH12918.000 General Arrangement 

[2500.E.ST12 Rev C] 
• Appendix B - General Arrangement Plan [SS.E.02] 
• Appendix C - Tywi and Cothi Hydraulic Modelling Report - Atkins - August 2021, 

Revised March 2023 [Rev 5.0] 
• Appendix D - Technical Note - Afon Gwynon Hydraulic Modelling Updates - 17th March 

2023 
• Appendix C - General Arrangement [SS.E.02] 
• Schedule of sections and files (FCA) – Atkins, March 2023 
• Appendix C - Figure 3.2 Structure E-12 CH12918.000 General Arrangement 

[2500.E.ST12 Rev C] 
 

 received on 23 March 2023 
  
• EIA Scoping Report – WSP, 27 March 2019 
• Appendix 6.A - 70041839 TVP(E) Arboricultural Statement V2 - September 2022 

 
 received on 7 February 2022 
  
• Appendix 8.A - Preliminary Geo-Environmental Assessment - WSP - February 2018 

 
 received on 26 January 2023 
  
• Outline Construction Environmental Management Plan - WSP - January 2023 
• Appendix 1.A - Screening Request Opinion 
• Appendix 1.B - SC.16073 - Scoping Opinion – TVP 
• Appendix 1.C - Environmental & Ecological Scoping Study – WSP, 27 March 2018 
• Appendix 1.D - NRW Scoping Comments V01 
• ES Non-Technical Summary - WSP - September 2022 
• Overall Site location Plan [_1_Site_Location_Plan] 
• Transport Statement - Final with Apps - Atkins - 23 January 2023 
• Flood Risk Management Plan - Atkins - January 2023 
• Pre-Application Consultation Report (Final Signed) - WSP - November 2022 
• Planning, Design and Access Statement (Signed) - WSP - January 2023 
• Figure 8.1 - International and National Statutory Designated Sites within 2km 
• Figure 8.2 - Non-Statutory Designated Sites with 2km 
• Appendix 4.C - Geomorphological Dynamics Assessment - Earth Science Partnership 
• Appendix 5.3 - EIA Scoping Report - WSP - 27 March 2018 
• Appendix 6.2 - Visual Effects Table – WSP 
• Compound Areas - Sheets 1-2, 3-4, 5-6, 7-8, 9-10 

Tudalen 41



 

 

• Appendix A - Key Plan [5183018-ATK-XX-XX-MP-G-0018 P02] 
• Appendix A - Detailed Sub-Areas (0021 P02 – 0035 P02) 
• Appendix A - Detailed-Diff (0048 P02 – 0049 P02) 

 
 received on 24 January 2023 
  
Ecological Documents 
  
• Net Benefit for Biodiversity Report – WSP, May 2023, received on 10 May 2023 
• Environmental Statement – WSP, April 2023, received 28 April 2023 
• Figure 8.4 – Badger survey results, received on 4 April 2023 
• Figure 8.7 – Bryophyte survey results, received on 4 April 2023 
• Appendix 2L – Otter seasonal survey – WSP, January 2019 received on 7 February 

2023 
• Appendix 2.O - Bat Tree Survey Report - WSP - Sept 2022 received on 6 February 2023 
• Appendix 2.J - Badger Sett Classification - Carregllys - Technical Note - Jacqueline 

Bond - 9th June 2022, received on 26 January 2023 
• Appendix 2.K - Update Badger Survey - Technical Note – WSP, 13 January 2023, 

received on 26 January 2023 
• Appendix 2.G Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey Report Jan 19 V4 – WSP, January 

2019, received on 24 January 2023 
• Appendix 2.H Towy Valley Cycleway Eastern Section Updated Ecological Appraisal - 

WSP, January 2023, received on 24 January 2023 
• Appendix 2.I - Preliminary Aquatic Ecology Assessment - WSP - May22, received on 

24 January 2023 
• Appendix 2.L - Otter Seasonal Survey - WSP - Jan2019, received on 24 January 2023 
• Appendix 2.M - Updated Otter Survey Report - WSP - June 21st 2022, received on 24 

January 2023 
• Appendix 2.N - Bat Hibernation Inspections – WSP, January 2023, received on 24 

January 2023 
• Appendix 2.P - Vegetation Survey & Assessment - Bryophyte Assessment – Vegetation 

and Survey Assessment Ltd, November 2017, received on 24 January 2023 
• Appendix 2.Q - Vegetation Survey & Assessment - Updated Bryophyte Assessment - 

Vegetation and Survey Assessment Ltd, November August 2020, received on 24 
January 2023 

• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 2020 - WSP - September 2022, received on 24 
January 2023 

• River Gwynon Railway Bridge Bat Survey Report - WSP - September 2022, received 
on 24 January 2023 

• Fig 8.3 - Towy Valley Cycleway Eastern Section - Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey & 
Protected Species Survey Map [Figure 1], received on 24 January 2023 

• Fig 8.5 - Otter Survey Location [Figure 1], received on 24 January 2023 
• Fig 8.6 - Aerial Tree Climbing Survey Results [70041839], received on 24 January 2023 
• Fig 8.8 - Trees with Bat Suitability Impacts Plan [70041839], received on 24 January 

2023 
• Fig 10.1 - Tree Constraints Plan [Figure 1], received on 24 January 2023 
• Appendix 4.B - Water Framework Directive Assessment - WSP - August 2022, received 

on 24 January 2023 
• Appendix 6.1 - Landscape Methodology – WSP, received on 24 January 2023 
• Appendix 6.A - 70041839 TVP(E) Arboricultural Statement V2 - September 2022, 

received on 24 January 2023 

Tudalen 42



 

 

 
Reason: 
In the interest of clarity as to the extent of the permission.  
  
Condition 3 
 
No development or site clearance shall take place until an Ecological Management Plan 
(EcMP) which informs and defines the ecological mitigation and management measures to 
be implemented as part of the construction phase of the development has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
  
The EcMP shall include the following:  
  
i) Updated species-specific targeted surveys for: -  

 
- otter, which covers all bankside (of the River Tywi) and functionally linked habitat (River 

Cothi and associated habitat cover).  
- badgers 
- bat species 
             
The updated surveys shall fully inform the requirements for any European Protected 
Species (EPS)/ Protected Species development licences. 
 
ii) Precautionary Method of Works (PMoW) which sets out specific measures to avoid or 

minimise adverse impacts to all protected and notable species. The PMoW shall fully 
address all findings from the updated species-specific targeted surveys and the 
recommendations of all approved Ecological documents detailed in Condition 2 of this 
permission. The PMoW shall include as a minimum, the following : -  

 
- risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.  
- identification of specific sensitive locations and areas in relation to all protected and 

notable species.  
- description of the proposed physical measures and sensitive working practices in 

relation to all specific sensitive locations and areas, and protected and notable species, 
to avoid or minimise adverse construction phase impacts. 

- full details of proposals for ecological supervision of all construction phase site 
operations, to include designated responsible persons and lines of communication.  

 
The PMoW shall form the basis of any applications for any European Protected Species 
(EPS)/ Protected Species development licences. 
 
iii) Clear cross reference to the specific measures set out in the Construction 

Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) required under Condition 4 of this permission 
which will avoid or minimise adverse impacts to all protected and notable species arising 
from the following: - 

  
- degradation of habitats from dust.  
- noise and vibration levels including timing of operations. 
- external lighting.  
- sedimentation and pollution transport. 
 

Tudalen 43



 

 

iv) Clear cross reference to the Landscape and Ecological Design Scheme (LEDS) and 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) as required under Conditions 5 
and 6 of this permission, and the ways in which these documents deliver effective 
habitat creation and enhancement measures which effectively compensate for the loss 
of existing habitats for all protected and notable species, and specifically otters and 
badgers. 

 
The EcMP shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details for the 
duration of the construction phase of the development.   

Reason: 
To safeguard against any unacceptable ecological or biodiversity impacts. 
  
Condition 4 
 
No development or site clearance shall take place until a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The CEMP shall be based upon the recommendations and measures 
set out in the Outline Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) – WSP – 
January 2023 received on 24 January 2023 and the following documents: - 
  
- Appendix 4.B - Water Framework Directive Assessment - WSP - August 2022, received 

on 24 January 2023 
- CEMP Pollution mitigation examples received on 5 May 2023 
- CEMP Example of sediment management methodology - WSP received 11 May 2023 
 
The CEMP shall comply with the Precautionary Method of Works (PMoW) to deliver 
ecological mitigation and management measures as set out in the Ecological Management 
Plan (EcMP) required under Condition No. 3 of this permission. It shall also set out 
arrangements by which the developer shall maintain communication with residents and 
businesses in the vicinity of the site, and by which the developer shall monitor and document 
compliance with the measures set out in the CEMP. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved CEMP. 
  
Reason: 
To prevent the pollution of the environment. 
  
Condition 5 
 
No development or site clearance shall take place until a Landscape and Ecological Design 
Scheme (LEDS) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall provide the location, extents, and specification information 
sufficient to fully define all existing landscape and ecological elements retained or 
translocated; and new elements installed, constructed, planted, or seeded. 
  
The scheme shall specifically deliver the following: 
  
i) Detailed proposals based upon the principles of the Concept landscape masterplan and 

plans 1-15 (0100-0115) received on 9 May 2023. 
ii) The objectives of the Towy Valley Path Net Benefit for Biodiversity Report – WSP, May 

2023, received on 10 May 2023 

Tudalen 44



 

 

iii) The recommendations of all approved Ecological documents as detailed in Condition 2 
of this permission, and the findings of the updated species-specific targeted surveys.  

  
Reason: 
To provide a suitable landscaping scheme that will enhance the character and appearance 
of the development and surrounding landscape, while safeguarding against any 
unacceptable ecological or biodiversity impacts and delivering a Net Benefit for biodiversity. 
  
Condition 6 
 
No development or site clearance shall take place until a Landscape and Ecological 
Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The LEMP shall include the following: - 
  
i) Clearly mapped definition of all areas subject to transfer to future private ownership and 

management responsibility, and those to be maintained and managed as part of the 
LEMP including a GIS shape file of LEMP boundaries to enable monitoring of ongoing 
Net Benefit for Biodiversity planning policy objectives. 

ii) A report detailing the management objectives for all landscape and ecological elements 
and areas retained or translocated; and new elements installed, constructed, planted or 
seeded as part of the Landscape and Ecological Design Scheme (LEDS) required under 
condition 5 of this permission.  

  
The report shall provide clearly defined proposals and sufficient information to assure 
effective delivery of the identified objectives, and include, specifically: - 
  
- maintenance and management proposals for the establishment phase (years 1-3 after 

implementation); and long term (years 4-25 after implementation).  
- plans, specifications, schedules, and timescales.  
- proposals for monitoring the effectiveness of the delivery of all landscape and ecological 

objectives (years 1-25 after implementation) 
- timescales for monitoring reviews and reactive identification of any remedial operations, 

rectification of defects, or required changes to maintenance and management 
operations, and the mechanism for their implementation. 

- details of the management agent (body or organisation) responsible for implementation 
of the LEMP; and the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which delivery of the LEMP 
will be secured. 

  
The LEMP shall be fully implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
  
Reason: 
To ensure the future management and monitoring of the landscaping and ecological 
proposals provided as part of the development and the delivery of a Net Benefit for 
Biodiversity. 
  
Condition 7 
 
Prior to the commencement of any works associated with the development (including site 
vegetation clearance, demolition of existing structures, excavation, heavy machinery 
entering site or the on-site storage of materials), an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) 
and Tree Protection Plan (TPP) informed by the AMS shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. The AMS and TPP shall be undertaken in 

Tudalen 45



 

 

compliance with the recommendations of BS5837. The AMS shall provide details, as 
necessary, of construction operations and specific design solutions to be undertaken within 
the root protection areas of all trees, large shrubs and hedges identified for retention, and 
the TPP shall be informed by the AMS and provide details of all protective measures, 
operations and construction exclusion zones for all trees, large shrubs and hedges identified 
for retention. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details. 
  
Reason: 
To safeguard existing trees within and bordering the site. 
 
Condition 8 
 
No development or site clearance shall take place until a detailed Construction Traffic 
Management Plan (CTMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The CTMP shall include details of compound and delivery access 
arrangements, including:  
 
- Traffic Management  
- Junction Widening  
- Visibility Splay Improvements  
- Passing places  
- Surface treatment  
- Signage  
- Banksmen  
- Details of any abnormal loads  
 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
  
Reason: 
In the interests of highway safety. 
  
Condition 9 
 
No development shall commence until an assessment of the nature and extent of 
contamination affecting the application site has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. This assessment must be carried out by or under the 
direction of a suitably qualified competent person in accordance with BS10175 (2011) 
Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites Code of Practice and shall assess any 
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. 
  
The report of the findings shall include: 
  
(i) a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and potential contaminants 

associated with those uses and the impacts from those contaminants on land and 
controlled waters. The desk study shall establish a ‘conceptual site model’ (CSM) which 
identifies and assesses all identified potential source, pathway, and receptor linkages; 

 
(ii) an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of contamination which 

may be present, if identified as required by the desk top study; 
 
 

Tudalen 46



 

 

(iii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 
 
• human health, 
• groundwater and surface waters 
• adjoining land, 
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
• woodland and service lines and pipes, 
• ecological systems, 
• archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and 
• any other receptors identified at (i) 

 
(iv)  an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred remedial option(s). 
 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. All work 
and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted in 
accordance with Welsh Local Government Association and the Environment Agency Wales’ 
‘Development of Land Affected by Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (2012). 
  
Reason: 
To ensure that any ground contamination is addressed in an acceptable manner. 
  
Condition 10 
 
No development shall take place until a qualified and competent archaeologist has 
submitted a written scheme of investigation (WSI) for approval in writing by the local 
planning authority. This WSI will describe the different stages of the work and demonstrate 
that it has been fully resourced and given adequate time. On behalf of the local planning 
authority, their archaeological advisors (DAT DM) will monitor all aspects of this work 
through to the final discharging of the condition. This work will not be deemed complete until 
all aspects of the WSI have been addressed and the final report submitted and approved.  
  
Reason: 
To protect historic environment interests whilst enabling development. 
  
Condition 11 
 
The boundary treatment measures shown in Figure 3.4 – Detailed section plans received 
on 28 April 2023 and Figure 3.1 – Work packages overview plan and typical details received 
on 28 April 2023 shall be provided in accordance with the details shown prior to the use of 
the respective sections of the path that they will serve and enclose. 
  
Reason:  
In the interests of the safety of path users, livestock and wildlife. 
 
Notes / Informatives 
 
Note 1 
  
Please note that this consent is specific to the plans and particulars approved as part of the 
application. Any departure from the approved plans will constitute unauthorised 
development and may be liable to enforcement action. You (or any subsequent developer) 

Tudalen 47



 

 

should advise the Council of any actual or proposed variations from the approved plans 
immediately so that you can be advised how to best resolve the matter. 
  
In addition, any Conditions which the Council has imposed on this consent will be listed 
above and should be read carefully. It is your (or any subsequent developers') responsibility 
to ensure that the terms of all Conditions are met in full at the appropriate time (as outlined 
in the specific condition). 
  
The commencement of development without firstly meeting in full the terms of any 
Conditions which require the submission of details prior to the commencement of 
development will constitute unauthorised development. This will necessitate the submission 
of a further application to retain the unauthorised development and may render you liable to 
formal enforcement action. 
  
Failure on the part of the developer to observe the requirements of any other Conditions 
could result in the Council pursuing formal enforcement action in the form of a Breach of 
Condition Notice. 
  
Note 2 
  
Comments and guidance received from consultees relating to this application, including any 
other permissions or consents required, is available on the Authority’s website 
(www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk).  
  
Note 3 
  
The Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB) has identified that this project application 
requires a full SuDS Application because the proposed development has a construction 
area greater than 100m2 . Therefore, the development, as required under Schedule 3 of the 
Flood and Water Management Act 2010, must implement SuDS infrastructure in 
accordance with Statutory SuDS Standards. As such, a full SuDS application for this 
development must be submitted for assessment and approved by the Sustainable Drainage 
Approval Body (SAB) at Carmarthenshire County Council. Further information can be found 
at www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/sab. 
  
Please be advised that under Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
construction work must not be commenced unless the drainage system for the work has 
been approved by the SAB. The Sustainable Drainage Scheme must be nature based and 
features should contribute to ecology, landscape and deliver Net Benefit for Biodiversity. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 48

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/sab.


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 49



 

 

 
 
Application No 
 

 
PL/05354 

 

Application Type Full planning permission 

Proposal Retention of detached dwelling 

 
Location 
 

Pantbach, Heol Treventy, Cross Hands, Llanelli, SA14 6TE 

 

Applicant(s) ADEL Construction - Craig Lloyd 

Agent Thomas Gronow 

Officer Hugh Towns 

Ward Gorslas 

 
Date of validation 
 

26/01/2023 

 
Reason for Committee 
 
This application is being reported to the Planning Committee following a call-in request 
by Cllr Aled Vaughan Owen and Cllr Darren Price on the grounds that they would like the 
committee to have the opportunity to consider the adverse impacts raised by the objectors.  
 
Site 
 
The application site is a plot of land immediately to the south-west of the property known as 
Pantbach, Heol Treventy and was formerly part of the curtilage of that property. The site is 
accessed along an unmade lane running from Heol Treventy which also serves as access 
to two other properties and fields to the west. To the north are residential properties fronting 
onto Heol Rhosybonwen, and to the south are the gardens of properties fronting onto Heol 
Treventy. The dwelling the subject of this application is under construction and is 
weatherproof with external walls, roof and windows/doors in place. 
 
Proposal  
 
The application seeks to retain the dwelling 'as built' as it has been constructed in a different 
position to that shown on the plans previously approved in September 2017 (W/34183). The 
original plans submitted with W/34183 showed the dwelling in the position that it has been 
built but the position was subsequently amended so as to move the property away from the 

Tudalen 50



 

 

boundary and to realign it slightly. Unfortunately, the applicant has mistakenly built the 
dwelling in accordance with the original submitted plans rather than the amended approved 
plans. 
 
Planning Site History 
 
D4/21372 - Siting of residential development - Outline Refusal - 22/10/1991 
 
W/34183 - Detached dwellinghouse - Full Granted - 5/10/2017 
 
Planning Policy 
 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (Adopted December 2014) (‘the LDP’) 
 
SP1 - Sustainable Places and Spaces 
SP5 - Housing 
SP6 - Affordable Housing 
GP1 - Sustainability and High Quality Design 
GP2 - Development Limits 
GP3 - Planning Obligations 
H2 - Housing within Development Limits 
AH1 - Affordable Housing 
EP1 - Water Quality and Resources 
EP2 - Pollution 
EP3 - Sustainable Drainage 
 
Carmarthenshire Supplementary Planning Guidance   
 
Affordable Housing 
Planning Obligations 
Caeau Mynydd Mawr 
 
National Planning Policy and Guidance is provided in Future Wales: The National Plan 2040, 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 11, February 2021 and associated Technical Advice 
Notes (TANs) published by Welsh Government. 
 
Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
Gorslas Community Council - has not commented to date. 
 
Local Members - Cllr Aled Vaughan Owen has responded advising that residents are 
concerned that the property has been built too close to the boundary wall of properties along 
Heol Treventy. Specifically, to the rear of the property, there is less than 2 metres between 
the property’s rear external wall and the boundary wall. Residents feel that this is an 
unacceptable development that has negative impacts on their properties. Residents also 
note that many of the upstairs windows overlook their properties which has significant 
negative privacy impacts on their homes. Cllr Darren Price has not commented to date. 
 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 
 

Tudalen 51

http://www.cartogold.co.uk/CarmarthenshireLDP/english/text/00_Contents.htm
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-guidance-spg
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 

 

Summary of Public Representations 
 
The application was the subject of neighbour notification to two adjoining properties. In 
response, letters of objection from 5 separate households have been received which raise 
the following issues of concern. 
 
• Loss of privacy/amenity primarily from overlooking 
• Loss of light 
• Concerns over sewage disposal 
• Concerns about consultation on the previous application 
• Devaluation of property 

 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 
Appraisal 
 
Principle of the Development 
 
The site lies inside the development limits of Cefneithin as identified in the Carmarthenshire 
Local Development Plan although it is not specifically allocated for development. Policy H2 
of the Local Development Plan therefore applies and states that proposals for housing 
developments on unallocated sites within the development limits of a defined settlement will 
be permitted, provided they are in accordance with the principles of the Plan’s strategy and 
its policies and proposals. 
 
The applicant argues that the planning permission for a dwelling on this plot granted in 
October 2017 establishes the principle of development. However, that permission lapsed in 
October 2022 as it had not been implemented in accordance with the approved plans. The 
development that has been undertaken is unauthorised as it does not accord with the 
approved plans and cannot be considered to implement the planning permission. Therefore 
at the point of making this decision there is no extant permission. The principle of 
development of the site has therefore not been established by the 2017 permission and the 
principle has to be considered afresh. 
 
Loss of Privacy/Amenity 
 
One of the main causes for concern expressed by the objectors in this case is whether the 
positioning of the dwelling causes significant adverse effects which cannot be mitigated in 
any other way. Irrespective of the location of the dwelling the rear dormer window in the roof 
does overlook the adjacent gardens, but so do the first floor windows of the properties in the 
remainder of the street. In addition, the dormer window in this dwelling serves a bathroom 
so the windows are obscure glazed. The impact of the positioning of the dwelling from first 
floor level is therefore not significant. 
 
At ground floor level, the positioning does potentially have an impact if it is not mitigated. 
However, the applicant is proposing a 1.8m high blockwork wall along the southern 
boundary and a 1.8m feather edge fence along the eastern boundary with Pantbach. This 
will screen direct views over the adjoining gardens provided the 1.8m is measured from floor 
level of the dwelling rather than adjoining ground level. 
 

Tudalen 52

http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 

 

The resident of 22 Heol Treventy has claimed loss of light as a result of the erection of the 
dwelling. However, 22 Heol Treventy lies 30m to the east and over such distance the 
argument of loss of light cannot be sustained. 
 
On the basis of the above, any amenity impacts associated with the dwelling can be 
adequately mitigated and refusal on the basis of amenity impact and loss of privacy cannot 
be sustained. 
 
Foul Drainage 
 
This is another significant cause for concern expressed by the objectors. Circular 008/2018 
- Planning requirement in respect of the use of private sewerage in new development, 
incorporating septic tanks and small sewage treatment plants (July 2018) states that Local 
Planning Authorities should aim to satisfy themselves the sewerage proposals for a 
development are suitable, and public health, amenity and environmental problems 
which might justify refusal of planning permission are unlikely to arise. The responsibility for 
demonstrating a new development is effectively served by a sewerage system rests with the 
developer. 
 
When drawing up sewerage proposals for any development a sequential approach should 
be followed, the first presumption must always be to provide a system of foul drainage 
discharging into a public sewer. DCWW plans indicate that the site is within a sewered area 
but it has been demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority that the 
developer is unable to gain the necessary permission from an adjoining landowner to 
connect to the public sewer. In such circumstances the Circular advises that a package 
sewage treatment plant should be considered. The applicant has failed to demonstrate that 
a package treatment plant is not feasible and has proposed a septic tank without adequate 
detail or justification. The Circular advises that septic tanks should only be considered where 
it has been clearly demonstrated that connection to the foul sewer and a package treatment 
plant are not feasible. The applicant has argued that the 2017 permission was granted on 
the basis of a septic tank and therefore the principle has been established. However, as set 
out above the principle cannot be established by a lapsed planning permission. The foul 
drainage arrangements must comply with current standards and in this case a septic tank, 
without appropriate details and justification, is considered to be unsatisfactory and in conflict 
with LDP Policy GP1, EP1 and EP2. 
 
Other Matters 
 
As Members will be aware concerns about consultation on a previous application and 
devaluation of property are not material planning considerations. 
 
Planning Obligations 
 
The developer has paid an Affordable Housing Contribution of £8,904 and the Caeau 
Mynydd Mawr Contribution of £1,043 under the terms of the previous permission. As the 
planning permission was not implemented this will need to be returned to the developer, 
unless a planning permission is granted and a Deed of Variation is entered into. 
 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The decision considers the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under 

Tudalen 53



 

 

section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). The 
decision takes into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and it 
is considered that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle 
through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives 
set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed development is located inside the development limits of Cefneithin. However, 
the applicant has failed to follow the sequential approach set out in Circular 008/2018 in 
relation to foul drainage arrangements. The applicant has demonstrated to the satisfaction 
of the Local Planning Authority that a connection to the public sewer is not feasible but has 
not demonstrated that a package treatment plant is not feasible. The proposed use of a 
septic tank in such a situation is unacceptable and is compounded by the lack of detail in 
relation to the siting and operational effectiveness of a septic tank on this site. 
 
Concerns have been expressed by neighbours in relation to loss of privacy and amenity but 
refusal on these grounds cannot be sustained as the development has no greater impact 
than is already experienced from existing dwellings.  
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION - Refusal 
 
 
Reasons for Refusal 
 
Reason 1  
 
The applicant has failed to demonstrate, with reference to the sequential approach set out 
in Circular 08/2018, that the use of a septic tank is a satisfactory means of foul drainage in 
this case. Notwithstanding that fundamental issue, the applicant has also failed to 
demonstrate that a septic tank and its associated drainage field can operate within this site 
as an effective means of foul drainage without a likely impact on public health, amenity and 
the environment. The proposal therefore conflicts with Policies GP1, EP1 and EP2 of the 
Adopted Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 54



 

 

 
Application No 
 

 
PL/05786 

 

Application Type Full planning permission 

Proposal Construction of dwelling for local needs eligibility - policy 

 
Location 
 

Plas Newydd, Llangain, Carmarthen, SA33 5AY 

 

Applicant(s) Vivian Jenkins 

Agent Harold Metcalfe Partnership - Ceri Evans 

Officer Charlotte Ford 

Ward St Clears and Llansteffan 

 
Date of validation 
 

12/04/2023 

 
Reason for Committee 
 
This application is being reported to the Planning Committee at the request of the Local 
Member Cllr Carys Jones (Vice Chair of the planning Committee). 
 
Site 
 
The application site comprises part of an agricultural field situated off the C2079 (Glasfryn 
Square to Rhydlydan B4312) and subsequent track road with Plas Newydd Farm being to 
the south east of the site. The application site is located some 1.6km west of the 
development limits of Llangain and 2.4km south east of Llangynog. 
  
The site itself comprises the southern corner of an agricultural field with a frontage onto the 
unclassified track road that serves Plas Newydd Farm. The remainder of the agricultural 
field, within which the application site is located, is currently delineated by hedgerow on all 
sides. The area surrounding the application site is characterised by scattered farmsteads 
and dwellings with no defined settlement in close proximity. 
 
Proposal  
 
The application is a resubmission of 2 previously refused outline applications for a local 
needs dwelling on the same site. The applicant seeks full planning permission for a new 

Tudalen 55



 

 

detached dwelling outside of development limits. The proposed bungalow measures 129m2 
and is comprised of 4 bedrooms, bathroom, lounge, kitchen/dining area and a utility room. 
  
The proposal is for a local needs dwelling and a supporting statement has been submitted 
outlining the rational for the proposal and information relating to the circumstances of the 
applicant. The applicant was born and raised in Llangain and is the 5th generation to live in 
the vicinity of Plas Newydd farm, and now being responsible for the farming of 50 acres due 
to both the applicant parents being now retired. The applicant and their partner both work in 
Ysgol Y Dderwen (Carmarthen) and state that they have been unable to secure a dwelling 
within Llangain given their budget and prevailing house prices.  
 
Planning Site History 
 
PL/04230 - Construction of dwelling for local need eligibility - Outline Refusal - 12/9/2022 
 
PL/04868 - Construction of dwelling for local needs eligibility - Outline Refusal - 15/12/2022 
 
Planning Policy 
 
Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (Adopted December 2014) (‘the LDP’) 
  
SP1 - Sustainable Places and Spaces                                                          
SP2 - Climate Change                                                                                    
SP3 - Sustainable Distribution- Settlement Framework        
SP14 - Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 
GP1 - Sustainability and High-Quality Design 
GP2 - Development Limits 
GP3 - Planning Obligations 
AH2 - Affordable Housing – Exceptions Sites 
AH3 - Affordable Housing – Minor Settlement in the Open Countryside 
TR2 - Location of Development – Transport Considerations 
TR3 - Highways in Developments – Design Considerations 
EQ4 - Biodiversity 
EQ5 - Corridors, Networks and Features of Distinctiveness 
EP1 - Water Quality and Resources 
EP2 - Pollution 
EP3 - Sustainable Drainage 
  
Carmarthenshire Supplementary Planning Guidance   
   
National Planning Policy and Guidance is provided in Future Wales: The National Plan 2040, 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 11, February 2021 and associated Technical Advice 
Notes (TANs) published by Welsh Government. 
 
Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
Head of Transportation & Highways - No objections subject to conditions. 
 
Local Member - Councillor C. Jones - Requests that the application is referred to the 
Planning Committee for determination for the following reason:- 
For discussion with the Planning Committee on a Local Needs basis. 

Tudalen 56

http://www.cartogold.co.uk/CarmarthenshireLDP/english/text/00_Contents.htm
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-guidance-spg
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes


 

 

 
Llagynog Community Council - The above application was reconsidered by Llangynog 
Community Council. It was resolved to support this application. 
  
Conservation (Trees) – Requires the submission of a BS 5837 tree report. 
 
Rights of Way - No objection subject to advisory note being attached to the granting of any 
permission. 
   
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 
Summary of Public Representations 
 
The application was the subject of notification by way of a site notice. One public 
representation has been received at the time of writing this report expressing support for the 
application. 
 
All representations can be viewed in full on our website. 
 
Appraisal 
 
Principle of the development 
  
Whilst there is a general presumption against the erection of new dwellings outside of 
defined settlements within the countryside, the LDP, having regard to guidance set out in 
PPW recognises that there are opportunities and that sensitive infilling or small gaps and/or 
minor extension to such groups could be considered acceptable provided that they provide 
for affordable housing to meet genuine identified local need.  
  
Policy AH3 provides the criterion against which such applications must be considered and 
specifies: 
  
Proposals in the open countryside for affordable housing for a single dwelling will be 
permitted within settlements, hamlets and groups of dwellings without Development Limits 
where it is to meet a genuine identified local need (as defined within the Glossary of Terms) 
and provided that: 
  
a) It represents sensitive infill development of a small gap within an otherwise continuous 

built up frontage; or, a minor extension which does not result in ribbon development or 
perpetuate existing ribbon development; 

 
b) It is of a scale and size appropriate to, and in keeping with (and not detrimental to) the 

character (including landscape and townscape) of the area; 
 
c) The benefits of the initial affordability will be retained for all subsequent occupants; 
 
d) It is of a size, scale and design compatible with an affordable dwelling and is available 

to those on low or moderate incomes. 
  
The definition of local need is defined in the Glossary of Terms in the LDP and reads as 
follows: 
  

Tudalen 57

http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp
http://online.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/cccapps/english/planning/PlanAppSearch.asp


 

 

"Residents (and their dependents) of the community and town council area or adjoining 
community and town council area. Present residents whose circumstances may relate to 
current substandard or unsatisfactory accommodation or where they are forming a new 
family or leaving the parental home for the first time will be considered as will those who 
make a significant contribution to the social, cultural and economic vitality of the community 
and town council area.  
  
In addition, the definition will apply to those persons with a long standing link with the 
community and town council area including a period of established residence within the last 
twenty years. Those persons who have a proven functional need to live close to their place 
of work or to a resident through an essential need arising from age or infirmity may also be 
deemed eligible for consideration." 
  
Having regard to the supporting statement which accompanied the application, it is 
concluded that the applicant would meet the definition of local need. It is considered on 
balance that the applicant has provided sufficient information to demonstrate that they meet 
the definition, in that they have a long standing link to the local area. The applicant and their 
partner are in full time employment in Ysgol Y Dderwen, Carmarthen (9.3km from the 
application site). The supporting information also indicates that the applicant farms 
approximately 50 acres of the family-owned farm at Plas Newydd which is adjacent to the 
proposed application site and has aspirations for its future. Although no further information 
as to the farming enterprise has been provided. The applicant states that they contribute to 
the local community of Llangain in a social and cultural sense through involvement in the 
organisation of town events. Within the supporting statement the applicant has advised that 
their budget is not sufficient to buy a home in Llangain. 
  
In terms of criteria (a) of LDP Policy AH3, the proposed development should represent a 
“sensitive infill development of a small gap within an otherwise continuous built-up frontage; 
or, a minor extension which does not result in ribbon development or perpetuate existing 
ribbon development”. Having further regard to the site’s location, Paragraph 3.56 of PPW 
Edition 11 states that “development in the countryside should be located within and adjoining 
those settlements where is can best be accommodated in terms of infrastructure, access, 
habitat and landscape conservation.” The sites’ location is not within the development limits 
of Llangain. Although there are some properties within the site’s general locality, these would 
not be categorised as either a settlement or a hamlet. It is considered that the dwellings 
within the locality of the application site are located some distance from the site. They are 
dispersed in a fragmented pattern some distance away from each other, not close enough 
to reasonably be considered a group of dwellings for the purposes of this policy. 
Notwithstanding this, consideration has been given to the remaining criteria of Policy AH3. 
  
In terms of the remaining criteria of Policy AH3, namely (b), (c) and (d), as stated above the 
application is for a property intended to meet a local need for affordable housing. Regard is 
given to the Welsh Government document “Welsh Development Quality Requirements 2021 
– Creating Beautiful Homes and Places”. This sets out the National minimum functional 
quality standards for new and rehabilitated general needs affordable homes. According to 
this document the largest affordable dwelling specified is 114sqm, which is suitable for 7 
persons/4 bedrooms. The previously refused schemes sought permission for a dwelling that 
had a floorspace of between 160 and 240m. The proposal has been amended to reduce the 
scale to 129sqm, which whilst exceeding, is nevertheless considered to be modest and 
reflects the needs of the applicant and their family as outlined in the supporting statement. 
As such, officers no longer raise objection to the proposed size, scale and design of the 
dwelling.  

Tudalen 58



 

 

  
Whilst no supporting information regarding the estimated build budget, land value or 
professional fee have been submitted as part of this application, the supporting statement 
states that the average house price in Llangain over the last year, according to Zoopla and 
Rightmove is £330,000, which is 20% higher than the previous year. As such, the majority 
of the building work will be undertaken by the applicant with the help of friends and family 
who have trades. In doing so it is anticipated the costs will be significantly less than 
£330,000. The consultation response from the valuations officer includes details of an 
on‐line search for 4 bedroomed properties within a 5 mile radius of the subject site and 
results showed that there were two being advertised for prices of £200,000 or below. 
  
Whilst the initial affordability of the property could be retained for all subsequent occupants 
through the completion of a Section 106 agreement to control the future sale of the property 
and ensuring the property would remain affordable in the longer term, this has not been 
pursued given the policy objection to the development in relation to its siting as referred to 
above. 
  
Whilst the proposal is now considered to have partly addressed the previous reason for 
refusal in terms a reduction in scale, it remains that the siting of the dwelling in this remote 
location fails to meet Criteria (a) of Policy AH3. The proposal therefore would result in an 
isolated sporadic new dwelling in the countryside divorced from built form to the detriment 
of the character and appearance of the area.  
  
Conservation (Trees) 
 
The proposal has the potential to impact upon the surrounding hedgerows/trees during the 
construction phase to enable access into the site. As such, whilst the Conservation Officer 
has not raised in principle objections to the development, it is requested that additional tree 
information would be required.  
 
Planning Obligations 
 
The initial affordability of the property could be retained for all subsequent occupants through 
the completion of a Section 106 agreement to effectively control the future sale of the 
property. This has not been pursued with the applicants given the fundamental objection to 
the development as outlined above. 
 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
The decision considers the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under 
section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). The 
decision takes into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and it 
is considered that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle 
through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives 
set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Conclusion 
 
After careful consideration of the scheme as submitted, it is concluded on balance that the 
proposal represents an isolated sporadic new dwelling in the countryside divorced from built 

Tudalen 59



 

 

form to the detriment of the character and appearance of the area. By reason of its remote 
siting, the dwelling is considered to be contrary to policy Policy AH3 of the Local 
Development Plan in that it is not within a settlement, hamlet or group of dwellings and is 
therefore recommended for refusal.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATION - Refusal 
 
 
Reasons for Refusal 
 
Reason 1 
 
The site is located in the countryside where there is a presumption against new residential 
development unless in exceptional circumstances. The proposed site is not within a 
settlement, hamlet or group of dwellings and does not represent a sensitive infill of an 
otherwise continuous built up frontage nor does it constitute a minor extension and as such 
development of the site would result in a sporadic, fragmented and disjointed pattern of 
residential development that would be harmful to the rural character and appearance of the 
area. As such, it is considered that the proposal would constitute inappropriate and intrusive 
rural development that would be harmful to visual amenity, the character and appearance 
of the countryside and at odds with the principles of sustainable development, contrary to 
Policies SP1, SP14, GP1 and AH3 of the adopted Carmarthenshire Local Development 
Plan (2014).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 60



 

 

 

Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin
Carmarthenshire County Council

PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO
PLANNING COMMITTEE

Adroddiad Pennaeth Lle a 
Chynaliadwyedd
Lle a Seilwaith

Report of the Head of Place 
and Sustainability 

Place and Infrastructure

22/06/2023

APELIADAU
APPEALS

Tudalen 61

Eitem Rhif  4



 

Planning Committee 22/06/2023 - Appeals 

 
 
COMMITTEE: 
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: 
 

 
22/06/2023 

 
REPORT OF: 
 

 
HEAD OF PLACE AND SUSTAINABILITY 

 

Planning Appeals 
 
Summary 
 
Planning and Environment Decisions Wales (PEDW) manages casework relating to the 
development and use of land in the public interest, and deal with planning appeals. 
A Guide to Engaging with Planning & Environment Decisions Wales 
 
The local planning authority makes decisions on planning applications, and the applicant 
can appeal a planning decision if either they disagree with it, or the decision was not made 
within 8 weeks.  
 
This report provides the following information relating to planning appeals:- 
 
• A description of the appeal stages 
• The role and responsibilities of the parties 
• How to comment on an appeal 
• The appeal timescales 
• Table 1 - Appeals Lodged as @ 12/06/2023 
• Table 2 - Appeals in Progress as @ 12/06/2023 
• Table 3 - Appeals Determined between 01/04/2023 and 12/06/2023 

 
 
  

Tudalen 62

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-09/guide-to-engaging-with-planning-and-environment-decisions-wales.pdf


 

Planning Committee 22/06/2023 - Appeals 

Appeal Stages 
 
Receipt to validation 
Appeal submitted (‘lodged’) to Planning and Environment Decisions Wales. On receipt, they 
check that it is a valid appeal. If all documentation is submitted with the initial appeal the 
validation stage will take 3 to 5 working days. 
 
Validation to start 
Once the appeal has been validated, PEDW provide the timetable for the appeal. This 
includes deadlines for the submission of representations and support documents. 
 
Appeals may be considered by a Planning Inspector in one of three ways: 
• written representations which involve the exchange of written statements by the appellant 

and the Council 
• informal hearing 
• public inquiry 
 
Start to event 
PEDW will identify a suitable inspector to consider the appeal submissions. The inspector 
will hold a site visit, hearing, or an inquiry. 
 
Event to decision 
The inspector will make a final decision on the appeal based on the evidence submitted. 
Decisions are published on the appeals portal. 
 
 
Roles and responsibilities 
 
Further guidance on the roles and responsibilities of each party in the appeals or called-in 
application process can be viewed here: 
https://www.gov.wales/planning-appeals-guidance-procedural-guide  
 
 
Comment on an appeal 
 
Anyone can comment on a planning appeal. 
 
The deadline for comments is 4 weeks after the start date of the appeal. 
 
The local planning authority must tell anyone who has commented on the original application 
(interested parties) that there’s an appeal. 
 
We must do this within a week of the appeal being started by Planning and Environment 
Decisions Wales.  Read the detailed guidance about taking part in an appeal.  
 
 
Timescales 
 
Most appeals are handled in writing and take about 14 weeks to determine. Informal 
hearings are likely to take up to about 21 weeks and public inquiries up to about 29 weeks. 
  

Tudalen 63

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.wales/planning-appeals-guidance-procedural-guide
https://www.gov.wales/planning-appeals-guidance-engaging-planning-and-environment-decisions-wales


 

Planning Committee 22/06/2023 - Appeals 

TABLE 1 - Appeals Lodged as @ 12/06/2023 
 
There remains a backlog of new appeals waiting to be validated and started by PEDW. For several customer service, operational and resource 
reasons they have taken the decision to prioritise our Householder, Advert and Minor Commercial Appeal Services by starting these appeals ahead 
of other casework at this time. Except for a limited number of specialist cases that require bespoke procedural administration, all other casework will 
be dealt with in order of date of receipt. 
 
The following appeals have been lodged with PEDW and are currently waiting a start date to progress.   
No comments should be submitted at this time. 
 
Planning 
Applic No 

Appeal 
Lodged 
Date 

Ward Site Address  Proposal Public 
Register Link 

PL/03447 08/01/2023 Llangunnor  Heronsbrook Farm, Capel Dewi, 
Carmarthen, SA32 8AH 

Retention of existing residential caravan at Herons 
Brook (caravan brought onto the land in July 2006 
as a replacement for the previous residential 
caravan which had been in situ at Herons Brook 
since 1982) 

AP-7241 

PL/05461 20/05/2023 Burry Port 4 Bryn Terrace, Burry Port, SA16 0EE Side extension to existing dwelling AP-7254 

PL/04651 28/02/2023 Swiss Valley Land South of Coed Y Ffarm, 
Felinfoel, Llanelli, SA14 8JB 

Provision of two traveller pitches to include static 
caravan, touring caravan and day room per pitch, 
relocated access point, two stable blocks and 
ecological improvements 

AP-7249 

PL/04306 19/04/2023 Llangyndeyrn Vacant land off St Annes Lane, 
Cwmffrwd, Carmarthen, SA31 2LZ 

Outline planning permission for up to 23 dwellings 
and associated works including off-site highway 
improvements (resubmission of PL/01879) 

AP-7251 

W/40384 19/04/2023 Llanfihangel-ar-Arth  Land adjacent To Llwyngwen, Dolgran 
Road, Pencader, Carmarthen, SA39 
9BX 

Proposed erection of one dwelling with pair of 
semi-detached garages to rear - one for this Plot 
(2) and the second for already approved dwelling to 
Plot 1 

AP-7252 

PL/03326 22/05/2023 Llandybie  Cae Grug, Wernddu Road, 
Ammanford 

Conversion and adaption of stable to form a 
residential unit 

AP-7255 

 

T
udalen 64

https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000002oDaI
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000004tyBP
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000002oQaX
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000004tqqN
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000004trtt
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000004tyCN


 

Planning Committee 22/06/2023 - Appeals 

TABLE 2 - Appeals in Progress as @ 12/06/2023 
 
The following appeals are in progress.  Comments can only be submitted to PEDW by the Deadline Date. If comments are submitted after the 
deadline they will be returned.  
 

Planning 
Applic 
No  

PINS Start 
Date 

Ward PEDW 
Case 
Search 

Process Appeal Reason Decision 
Making 

Comments 
Deadline 
Date 

Site Address Proposal Files Public 
Register 

PL/00228 28/03/2023 Llangunnor APP/M68
25/A/21/3
276330 

Hearing The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

25/04/2023 Land at Penbryn 
Farm, Llangynnor, 
Nantycaws, 
Carmarthen, 
SA32 8EX 

Creation of a family traveller 
pitch (for three generations) 
to include three static 
caravans and tourers, 
ancillary day / utility rooms, 
new stable block, retention 
and extension of hardcore 
area, retention of storage 
containers and installation of 
a package treatment plant 

PL/00228 AP-7164 

PL/04634 06/04/2023 Cenarth 
and 
Llangeler 

CAS-
02304-
X8K9N4 

Written 
Reps 

The refusal of the 
approval of the 
matters reserved 
under an outline 
planning permission 

Delegated 
Decision 

04/05/2023 West View, 
Bancyffordd, 
Llandysul, SA44 
4RY 

Removal of Condition 2 on 
W/39053 

PL/04634 AP-7235 

PL/05010 11/05/2023 Kidwelly 
and St 
Ishmael 

CAS-
02552-
H9V9B9 

Written 
Reps 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

08/06/2023 19 Parc Y Garreg, 
Mynyddygarreg, 
Kidwelly, SA17 
4PU 

Creation of new access onto 
highway 

PL/05010 AP-7247 

PL/04209 15/05/2023 Trimsaran CAS-
02373-
C3Y8J0 

Written 
Reps 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

12/06/2023 Woodland at Lon 
Ffos Las, 
Trimsaran, 
Kidwelly 

Construction of fence around 
front of property entrance 
with a height of 3.05 metres 
and length of 87.7 metres 
which includes a 4.2 metre 
gateway. Foresters / 
woodland shelter 2.4 metres 
x 4.8 metres all made of 
wood apart from one small 
window and glass panel in 
the door. Storage tool shed 
3.4 metres x 5.1 metres all 
made of wood 

PL/04209 AP-7240 

T
udalen 65

https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=3276330
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=3276330
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=3276330
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/00228
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000000fPHE
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-X8K9N4
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-X8K9N4
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-X8K9N4
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/04634
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000002nxyJ
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-H9V9B9
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-H9V9B9
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-H9V9B9
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/05010
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000002oOaT
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-C3Y8J0
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-C3Y8J0
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-C3Y8J0
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/04209
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000002o8E1


 

Planning Committee 22/06/2023 - Appeals 

PL/04158 15/05/2023 Saron CAS-
02342-
R5T0R2 

Written 
Reps 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

12/06/2023 Cefn Gorwydd 
Farm, Cwmfferws 
Road, Tycroes, 
Ammanford, SA18 
3UD 

Variation of condition 3 on 
E/36262 (private leisure 
purposes of the applicant 
and family only and shall not 
be used for any commercial 
activity including hiring, 
hacking, livery or tuition) 

PL/04158 AP-7236 

 
 
 
TABLE 3 - Appeals Determined between 01/04/2023 and 12/06/2023 
 
The following appeals have been determined by PEDW:-  
 

Planning 
Applic No  

Wards Decision Decision 
Date 

Proposal Site Address  Appeal Reason Decision Making View 
Decision 

PL/04969 Pembrey Dismissed 12/04/2023 Refurbishment of property, 
fenestration alterations, change of 
roof finish and structure, changes to 
wall finish, replacement of balcony, 
changes to driveway, increasing of 
Roof Height, Dormer to rear elevation 
and conversion of loft space into 
living spa 

Cedar Grove, 2 
Mumbles Head, 
Mountain Road, 
Pembrey, Burry Port, 
SA16 0AZ 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

Decision 

PL/04966 Hengoed Dismissed 24/04/2023 Two illuminated freestanding digital 
advertising displays each measuring 
6 metres x 3 metres for the display of 
static poster images 

The Hyve, Llanelli 
Gym, Llanelli, SA15 
4AX 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

Decision 

PL/04744 Llangadog Dismissed 24/04/2023 Replacing soft wood, single glazed. 
Installing UVPC, double glazed 

Rose And Crown, 1 
High Street, 
Llangadog, SA19 
9EF 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

Decision 

T
udalen 66

https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-R5T0R2
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-R5T0R2
https://planningcasework.service.gov.wales/searchresults?q=-R5T0R2
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/SearchResult/RunThirdPartySearch?FileSystemId=PS&FOLDER1_REF=PL/04158
https://carmarthenshire-pr.force.com/en/s/appeal/a0S5J000002o0Jm
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/Document/ViewDocument?id=8F3F95D7F3F84BCDBDA3DD7CA9915138
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/Document/ViewDocument?id=408E5059F9B7458589438CDD5BE52F35
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/Document/ViewDocument?id=B3B5C799424E4CDE86A181E6F3BD0E06


 

Planning Committee 22/06/2023 - Appeals 

PL/00489 Manordeilo 
and Salem 

Allowed 24/04/2023 A One Planet Development which will 
comprise of one timber-framed 
single-storey dwelling and ancillary 
buildings in addition to horticultural 
areas, willow plantation, forest 
gardens and a wildflower meadow 

Land between 
Caegroes and 
Cwmwern, 
Penybanc, Llandeilo 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Refused following 
officer 
recommendation 
to Approve 

Decision 

PL/03571 Elli Dismissed 26/04/2023 Proposed 4 storage units Land at rear of Park 
View Terrace, 
Llanelli, SA15 3HA 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

Decision 

PL/04709 Llangadog Dismissed 04/05/2023 Replacement of the top three first 
floor single glazed windows with 
double glazed windows 

Gurrey House, 
Church Street, 
Llangadog, SA19 
9AA 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

Decision 

PL/03439 Carmarthen 
North and 
South 

Dismissed 10/05/2023 Proposed Removable catering trailer 
/ unit in corner of rear garden to 
serve hot drinks and food 

4 Heol Salem, 
Johnstown, 
Carmarthen, SA31 
3HJ 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

Decision 

PL/03845 Cenarth 
and 
Llangeler 

Dismissed 12/05/2023 Display of 2 non illuminated fascia 
signs and display of one externally 
applied vinyl. 

Bridge Pharmacy, 
Bridge Street, 
Newcastle Emlyn, 
SA38 9DX 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

Decision 

PL/00009 Penygroes Allowed 12/05/2023 Mixed use property that is concerned 
with the manufacture, storage and 
sale of timber products, along with a 
residential use. The following Use 
Classes are relevant: B1, B8, A1 and 
C3 

Unit 1, Gwynfryn, 
Black Lion Road, 
Gorslas, Llanelli, 
SA14 6SB 

The refusal of 
planning permission 
by this Council 

Delegated 
Decision 

Decision 

 
 

T
udalen 67

https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/Document/ViewDocument?id=408E5059F9B7458589438CDD5BE52F38
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/Document/ViewDocument?id=C497FCA3542743F7B31D5CBBAC66EF48
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/Document/ViewDocument?id=26BAB644D8AE4C19A198D4AEEE53725E
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/Document/ViewDocument?id=38C16A24389B4E4086BC758EE7ED446A
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/Document/ViewDocument?id=4273A3232124489D85D1DDF4284B0E92
https://planning-carmarthenshire.msappproxy.net/PublicAccess_LIVE/Document/ViewDocument?id=3E6E338AB22D4D1CB1307963EBDB8E13


M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO 
 

DYDD IAU 25AIN MAI 2023  
 
 

PRESENNOL:   Cynghorydd W.T. Evans (Cadeirydd) 
 
Cynghorwyr (Yn y Siambr): 
J.M. Charles M. Donoghue J.K. Howell A.C. Jones 
M.J.A. Lewis B.D.J. Phillips E. Skinner G.B. Thomas 
M. Thomas D.E. Williams   

 
Cynghorwyr (Yn rhithwir): 
S.M. Allen N. Evans J.P. Jenkins R. Sparks 
 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol (Yn y Siambr): 
R. Griffiths, Pennaeth Lle a Chynaliadwyedd 
I.R. Llewelyn, Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio 
S. Murphy, Uwch-gyfreithiwr 
H. Rice, Uwch Swyddog Rheoli Datblygu 
A. Eynon, Prif Gyfieithydd 
S. Hendy, Swyddog Cefnogi Aelodau 
E. Bryer, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd [Ysgrifennydd Cofnodion] 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol (Yn rhithwyr): 
Z.A. Evans, Uwch-dechnegydd [Cyswllt Cynllunio] 
J. Owen, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd [Ysgrifennydd Cofnodion - Eitem 
Agenda 5] 
M. Runeckles, Swyddog Cefnogi Aeolodau 
 
Siambr - Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP ac o bell - 10.00 yb - 1.50 yp 
 

[Sylwer - Am 10:10 yb cafwyd toriad i geisio cyngor cyfreithiol a bu i'r Pwyllgor 
ailymgynnull am 10:35 yb. 
Am 11:40 yb cafodd y Pwyllgor egwyl o 10 munud, cyn ailgynnull am 11:50 yb.   
Am 12:50 yp tynnwyd sylw'r Pwyllgor at Reol 9 o Weithdrefn y Cyngor – Hyd y 
Cyfarfod – ac, oherwydd bod y cyfarfod eisoes wedi bod yn mynd rhagddo ers 
tair awr, penderfynwyd gohirio ystyried y rheolau sefydlog, yn unol â Rheol 23.1 
o Weithdrefn y Cyngor, er mwyn galluogi'r Pwyllgor i gwblhau'r gwaith a oedd yn 
weddill ar yr agenda. 

 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

 
Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorwyr P. Cooper, T. 
Davies a D. Owen. 
   
 
 
 

Tudalen 69

Eitem Rhif  5



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 
 
Y Cynghorydd / 
Swyddog 

Rhif y Cofnod Y Math o Fuddiant 

Y Cynghorydd J.K. 
Howell 

3: PL/04739 – Codi 
preswylfa menter wledig a 
gwaith cysylltiedig yn 
Nhreale, Felindre, Llandysul,  
SA44 5XU 

Wedi cefnogi'r ymgeiswyr 
/ cais yn ysgrifenedig.  

Y Cynghorydd R. 
Sparks 

3: PL/05366 – Cyfnewid 
carafán a llawr estyll 
cyfreithlon am breswylfa â 
garej yn rhan ohoni 
(Ailgyflwyno yn dilyn gwrthod 
PL/04327) yn The Caravan, 
Springwells Farm, 
Llanboidy,  Hendy-gwynar 
Daf, SA34 0EB 

Roedd yn adnabod yr 
ymgeiswyr.  

  
 

3. PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO 
 
3.1      PENDERFYNWYD caniatáu'r cais cynllunio canlynol yn amodol ar yr 

amodau yn Adroddiad/Atodiad y Pennaeth Lle a Chynaliadwyedd 
a/neu y rhoddwyd gwybod amdanynt yn y cyfarfod:- 

  
PL/03849 Amrywio Amod 3 o W/35339 (codi giatiau), Cartref 

Cynnes, Peniel, Caerfyrddin, SA32 7HT 
  
3.2 PENDERFYNWYD caniatáu'r cais cynllunio canlynol yn groes i 

argymhelliad y Pennaeth Lle a Chynaliadwyedd i'w wrthod am y 
rhesymau gafodd eu hystyried gan y Pwyllgor:  

  
PL/04739 Codi preswylfa menter wledig a gwaith cysylltiedig yn 

Nhreale, Felindre, Llandysul, SA44 5XU 
  
[Sylwer - Roedd y Cynghorydd J.K. Howell wedi datgan buddiant 
yn yr eitem hon yn gynharach; ailddatganodd y buddiant hwnnw 
a gadawodd y cyfarfod tra oedd yr eitem yn cael ei hystyried].  
  
Roedd y Pwyllgor o'r farn:  
  
a)    Bod Cyfiawnhad Menter Wledig ar gyfer y breswylfa, ar sail 

maint cyffredinol erwau'r fferm a graddfa bresennol gwaith y 
fferm, a bod maint y breswylfa'n dderbyniol. 

b)    Bod y cais yn unol â darpariaethau Nodyn Cyngor Technegol 
6 a Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015 
mewn perthynas â pharhad y cenedlaethau o ran ffermio. 

c)    Bod modd clymu'r breswylfa bresennol ac arfaethedig i'r 

Tudalen 70



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

daliad amaethyddol drwy gytundeb adran 106.  
  

3.2.2   PENDERFYNWYD caniatáu'r cais yn groes i 
argymhelliad y Pennaeth Lle a Chynaliadwyedd i 
wrthod.   
3.2.3 Bod y Pennaeth Lle a Chynaliadwyedd yn 
adrodd yn ôl i'r pwyllgor ynghylch amodau priodol 
i'w gosod a thrafodaethau gyda'r ymgeisydd mewn 
perthynas ag unrhyw gytundebau A106. 

  
3.3 PENDERFYNWYD gwrthod y cais cynllunio canlynol am y rhesymau y 

manylwyd arnynt yn Adroddiad y Pennaeth Lle a Chynaliadwyedd: 
  
PL/05366 Cyfnewid carafán a llawr estyll cyfreithlon am breswylfa â 

garej yn rhan ohoni (Ailgyflwyno yn dilyn gwrthod PL/04327) 
yn The Caravan, Springwells Farm, Llanboidy, Hendy-gwyn 
ar Daf, SA34 0EB 
  
[Sylwer - Datganodd y Cynghorydd R. Sparks fuddiant wrth i'r 
swyddog gyflwyno'r cais hwn, a gadawodd y cyfarfod yn syth. 
Nid oedd yn bresennol wrth i'r Pwyllgor ystyried y cais].  

  
 

4. LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR GOFNODION Y CYFARFOD A 
GYNHALIWYD AR 27AIN EBRILL, 2023 
 
PENDERFYNWYD llofnodi cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor oedd wedi ei 
gynnal ar 27 Ebrill, 2023 gan eu bod yn gywir.  
  

5. PERFFORMIAD Y GWASANAETH CYNLLUNIO - CHWARTER 4 
 
Rhoddodd y Pwyllgor ystyriaeth i Adroddiad Perfformiad y Gwasanaeth 
Cynllunio, ar gyfer Chwarter 4 am y cyfnod 1 Ionawr 2022 hyd at 31 Mawrth 
2023, ac, yn arbennig, yr Is-adran Rheoli Datblygu a Gorfodi. Roedd yr adroddiad 
yn cynnwys data cymharol ar gyfer 2022/23. 
  
Yn ogystal, roedd yr adroddiad yn nodi set helaeth o ddangosyddion monitro 
perfformiad craidd a fyddai'n rhan o fonitro perfformiad y gwasanaethau cynllunio 
yn y dyfodol.  
  
Prif ddangosyddion perfformiad yr adroddiad, yr adroddwyd yn ei gylch yn 
genedlaethol i Lywodraeth Cymru, oedd Dangosyddion 2 a 10 ynghyd â chyfres 
o ddangosyddion lleol. 
  
Wrth grynhoi perfformiad, nododd yr aelodau, ar ddiwedd blwyddyn ariannol 
2022/23, y rhagorid am y tro cyntaf ar y targed perfformiad cynllunio blynyddol ar 
gyfer Dangosydd 2 (Llywodraeth Cymru PAM/018), wrth i benderfyniad gael ei 
wneud ynghylch 89% o'r holl geisiadau cynllunio o fewn y dyddiad targed.  
Roedd y dangosyddion perfformiad lleol yn dangos gwelliant parhaus, gan gynnal 
a datblygu ar y cynnydd mewn perfformiad ers 2021/22. Ar ben hynny, roedd yr 

Tudalen 71



 

Sylwer: Mae'r cofnodion hyn yn amodol ar gael eu cadarnhau yn y cyfarfod nesaf 

adroddiad yn nodi, o ran dangosydd perfformiad 14, gorfodaeth, yn Chwarter 4 
roeddid wedi ymchwilio i 80% o'r achosion o fewn y dyddiad targed o 84 diwrnod 
gan gyrraedd y targed o 80% am y tro cyntaf. 
  
Estynnwyd diolch i'r Swyddogion am gyflawni gwelliannau cadarnhaol mewn 
perfformiad. Cyfeiriwyd at Dangosydd 11, apeliadau a benderfynwyd yn erbyn 
argymhelliad swyddogion. Mewn ymateb i ymholiad a godwyd, eglurodd y 
Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio nad oedd ffigyrau ar gael oherwydd nad oedd unrhyw 
apeliadau wedi cael eu clywed a oedd yn ymwneud â phenderfyniad y Pwyllgor 
Cynllunio. Atgoffwyd yr Aelodau nad oedd yr achosion hynny lle roedd y Pwyllgor 
Cynllunio wedi cymeradwyo cais yn groes i argymhelliad y swyddog yn cael eu 
cynnwys gan na fyddai'r penderfyniadau hynny'n arwain at apêl bosibl. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn yr adroddiad.  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CADEIRYDD       DYDDIAD 
 

Tudalen 72


	Agenda
	3 PENDERFYNU AR GEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO
	4 APELIADAU.
	5 LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR GOFNODION Y CYFARFOD A GYNHALIWYD AR 25AIN MAI 2023.

